GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER CO /OH/ Form 10-Q July 30, 2014

| SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION<br>Washington, D.C. 20549<br>FORM 10-Q  |   |
|--|---|
| QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13<br>OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934<br>For the Quarterly Period Ended June 30, 2014<br>Commission File Number: 1-1927<br>THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY<br>(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)<br>Ohio<br>(State or Other Jurisdiction of<br>Incorporation or Organization) | OR 15(d)<br>34-0253240<br>(I.R.S. Employer<br>Identification No.)   |
| <ul> <li>200 Innovation Way, Akron, Ohio</li> <li>(Address of Principal Executive Offices)</li> <li>(330) 796-2121</li> <li>(Registrant's Telephone Number, Including Area Code)</li> </ul>  | 44316-0001<br>(Zip Code)  |
| •  | ed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of g 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was such filing requirements for the past 90 days.          |
| Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submit   | ted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if<br>and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during<br>he registrant was required to submit and post such files). |
| or a smaller reporting company. See definitions of "large company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check or  |   |
| С Г (D   | on-accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company o<br>to not check if a smaller<br>porting company)   |
| Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell c<br>Yes o No b<br>Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the   | ompany (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).  |
| practicable date.<br>Number of Shares of Common Stock,   | 275,312,681   |
| Without Par Value, Outstanding at June 30, 2014:   |   |

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION **ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS** NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND **RESULTS OF OPERATIONS** ITEM 3. OUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK **ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES** PART II. OTHER INFORMATION **ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS** ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS EX-12.1 EX-31.1 EX-31.2 EX-32.1 **EX-101 INSTANCE DOCUMENT EX-101 SCHEMA DOCUMENT** EX-101 CALCULATION LINKBASE DOCUMENT **EX-101 LABELS LINKBASE DOCUMENT EX-101 PRESENTATION LINKBASE DOCUMENT EX-101 DEFINITION LINKBASE DOCUMENT** 

## PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

## ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |                   | Six Months<br>June 30, | Ended   |
|--|-----------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|---------|
| (In millions, except per share amounts)              | 2014                        | 2013              | 2014                   | 2013    |
| Net Sales  | \$4,656                     | \$4,894           | \$9,125                | \$9,747 |
| Cost of Goods Sold                                   | 3,532                       | 3,846             | 7,050                  | 7,786   |
| Selling, Administrative and General Expense          | 698                         | 691               | 1,365                  | 1,336   |
| Rationalizations (Note 2)                            | 24                          | 13                | 65                     | 20      |
| Interest Expense                                     | 102                         | 102               | 207                    | 187     |
| Other (Income) Expense (Note 3)                      | 8                           | (14               | ) 176                  | 112     |
| Income before Income Taxes                           | 292                         | 256               | 262                    | 306     |
| United States and Foreign Taxes (Note 4)             | 60                          | 63                | 68                     | 82      |
| Net Income   | 232                         | 193               | 194                    | 224     |
| Less: Minority Shareholders' Net Income              | 19                          | 5                 | 32                     | 3       |
| Goodyear Net Income                                  | 213                         | 188               | 162                    | 221     |
| Less: Preferred Stock Dividends                      |                             | 7                 | 7                      | 15      |
| Goodyear Net Income available to Common Shareholders | \$213                       | \$181             | \$155                  | \$206   |
| Goodyear Net Income available to Common              |                             |                   |                        |         |
| Shareholders — Per Share of Common Stock             |                             |                   |                        |         |
| Basic  | \$0.77                      | \$0.74            | \$0.59                 | \$0.84  |
| Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (Note 5)         | 276                         | 246               | 262                    | 246     |
| Diluted  | \$0.76                      | \$0.67            | \$0.58                 | \$0.79  |
| Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (Note 5)         | 281                         | 282               | 281                    | 281     |
| Cash Dividends Declared Per Common Share             | \$0.05                      |                   | \$0.10                 | \$—     |
| The accompanying notes are an integral part of the   | ese consolidate             | d financial state | ements.                |         |

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Unaudited)

|   | Three Mon<br>June 30,    | ths Ended          |   | Six Mont<br>June 30, | hs | Ended |   |  |
|---|--------------------------|--------------------|---|----------------------|----|-------|---|--|
| (In millions)   | 2014                     | 2013               |   | 2014                 |    | 2013  |   |  |
| Net Income  | \$232                    | \$193              |   | \$194                |    | \$224 |   |  |
| Other Comprehensive Income:   |                          |                    |   |                      |    |       |   |  |
| Foreign currency translation, net of tax of \$0 and \$0 in 2014 (\$0 and \$0 in 2013)   | 21                       | (98                | ) | 15                   |    | (155  | ) |  |
| Reclassification adjustment for amounts recognized in income, ne<br>of tax of \$0 and \$0 in 2014 (\$0 and \$0 in 2013)<br>Defined benefit plans:   | et (2                    | ) —                |   | (2                   | )  | 1     |   |  |
| Amortization of prior service cost and unrecognized gains and<br>losses included in total benefit cost, net of tax of \$1 and \$3 in<br>2014 (\$3 and \$7 in 2013)                        | 25                       | 59                 |   | 57                   |    | 120   |   |  |
| Decrease in net actuarial losses, net of tax of \$3 and \$3 in 2014 (\$2 and \$2 in 2013)   | 5                        | 27                 |   | 24                   |    | 124   |   |  |
| Immediate recognition of prior service cost and unrecognized gains and losses due to curtailments, settlements, and divestitures, net of tax of \$0 and \$0 in 2014 (\$0 and \$0 in 2013) | , —                      | 1                  |   | 42                   |    | 1     |   |  |
| Deferred derivative gains (losses), net of tax of \$(1) and \$(1) in 2014 (\$1 and \$1 in 2013)   | 1                        | 2                  |   | (1                   | )  | 6     |   |  |
| Reclassification adjustment for amounts recognized in income, ne of tax of \$0 and \$0 in 2014 (\$1 and \$1 in 2013)  | et                       | 1                  |   | 1                    |    | 1     |   |  |
| Unrealized investment gains (losses), net of tax of \$0 and \$0 in 2014 (\$0 and \$0 in 2013)   | 6                        | (2                 | ) | 1                    |    | 15    |   |  |
| Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)   | 56                       | (10                | ) | 137                  |    | 113   |   |  |
| Comprehensive Income  | 288                      | 183                |   | 331                  |    | 337   |   |  |
| Less: Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to Minority<br>Shareholders  | 22                       | 2                  |   | 51                   |    | (13   | ) |  |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income<br>The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated  | \$266<br>I financial sta | \$181<br>atements. |   | \$280                |    | \$350 |   |  |

# THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

| (Unaudited)   |          |              |
|---|----------|--------------|
| (In millions)   | June 30, | December 31, |
|   | 2014     | 2013         |
| Assets:   | -        |              |
| Current Assets:   |          |              |
| Cash and Cash Equivalents   | \$1,637  | \$2,996      |
| Accounts Receivable, less Allowance — \$98 (\$99 in 2013)   | 2,841    | 2,435        |
| Inventories:  | y -      | <b>y</b>     |
| Raw Materials   | 638      | 592          |
| Work in Process   | 165      | 164          |
| Finished Products   | 2,327    | 2,060        |
|   | 3,130    | 2,816        |
| Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets   | 430      | 397          |
| Total Current Assets  | 8,038    | 8,644        |
| Goodwill  | 663      | 668          |
|   | 137      | 138          |
| Intangible Assets   | 137      |              |
| Deferred Income Taxes   |          | 157          |
| Other Assets  | 648      | 600          |
| Property, Plant and Equipment, less Accumulated Depreciation — \$9,373 (\$9,158 in                              | 7,325    | 7,320        |
| 2013)   | ¢16040   | ¢ 1 7 5 7 7  |
| Total Assets  | \$16,942 | \$17,527     |
| Liabilities:  |          |              |
| Current Liabilities:  |          |              |
| Accounts Payable-Trade  | \$3,097  | \$3,097      |
| Compensation and Benefits (Notes 9 and 10)  | 763      | 758          |
| Other Current Liabilities   | 1,080    | 1,083        |
| Notes Payable and Overdrafts (Note 7)   | 7        | 1,085        |
|   | 7<br>78  | 73           |
| Long Term Debt and Capital Leases due Within One Year (Note 7)<br>Total Current Liabilities                     |          |              |
|   | 5,025    | 5,025        |
| Long Term Debt and Capital Leases (Note 7)  | 6,677    | 6,162        |
| Compensation and Benefits (Notes 9 and 10)  | 1,369    | 2,673        |
| Deferred and Other Noncurrent Income Taxes  | 255      | 256          |
| Other Long Term Liabilities   | 934      | 966          |
| Total Liabilities   | 14,260   | 15,082       |
| Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Note 11)  |          |              |
| Minority Shareholders' Equity (Note 1)  | 613      | 577          |
| Shareholders' Equity:   | 010      | 511          |
| Goodyear Shareholders' Equity:  |          |              |
| Preferred Stock, no par value: (Note 12)  |          |              |
| Authorized, 50 million shares, Outstanding shares — none in 2014 (10 million in 20                              | 13)      |              |
|   | 15),     | 500          |
| liquidation preference \$50 per share   |          |              |
| Common Stock, no par value:<br>Authorized 450 million shares. Outstanding shares 275 million (248 million in 20 | 012)     |              |
| Authorized, 450 million shares, Outstanding shares — 275 million (248 million in 20                             | 275      | 248          |
| after deducting 3 million treasury shares (3 million in 2013)   | 2 202    | 2047         |
| Capital Surplus   | 3,293    | 2,847        |
|   |          |              |

| Retained Earnings   | 2,087    | 1,958    |   |
|---|----------|----------|---|
| Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss  | (3,830   | ) (3,947 | ) |
| Goodyear Shareholders' Equity   | 1,825    | 1,606    |   |
| Minority Shareholders' Equity — Nonredeemable   | 244      | 262      |   |
| Total Shareholders' Equity  | 2,069    | 1,868    |   |
| Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity  | \$16,942 | \$17,527 |   |
| The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. |          |          |   |

- 3-

# THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

| (Unaudite |
|-----------|
|-----------|

| (Unauticu)   |               |                |    |
|--|---------------|----------------|----|
| (In millions)  | Six Months    | Ended          |    |
|  | June 30,      | 2012           |    |
|  | 2014          | 2013           |    |
| Cash Flows from Operating Activities:  | <b># 10 4</b> | <b>\$ 22.4</b> |    |
| Net Income   | \$194         | \$224          |    |
| Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Cash Flows from Operating Activities: |               |                |    |
| Depreciation and Amortization  | 371           | 357            |    |
| Amortization and Write-Off of Debt Issuance Costs                            | 10            | 8              |    |
| Net Pension Curtailments and Settlements                                     | 39            |                |    |
| Net Rationalization Charges (Note 2)   | 65            | 20             |    |
| Rationalization Payments   | (119          | ) (43          | )  |
| Net Gains on Asset Sales (Note 3)  | (3            | ) (3           | )  |
| Pension Contributions and Direct Payments                                    | (1,257        | ) (993         | )  |
| Net Venezuela Currency Remeasurement Loss (Note 3)                           | 157           | 115            |    |
| Customer Prepayments and Government Grants                                   | 4             | 29             |    |
| Insurance Proceeds   | 4             | 17             |    |
| Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities, Net of Asset Acquisitions and   |               |                |    |
| Dispositions:  |               |                |    |
| Accounts Receivable  | (376          | ) (391         | )  |
| Inventories  | (318          | ) 22           | ,  |
| Accounts Payable — Trade   | 86            | 148            |    |
| Compensation and Benefits  | 35            | 46             |    |
| Other Current Liabilities  | (26           | ) (38          | )  |
| Other Assets and Liabilities   | (             | 20             | /  |
| Total Cash Flows from Operating Activities                                   | (1,134        | ) (462         | )  |
| Cash Flows from Investing Activities:  | (1,151        | ) (102         | )  |
| Capital Expenditures   | (441          | ) (493         | )  |
| Asset Dispositions (Note 3)  | 5             | 7              | )  |
| Decrease (Increase) in Restricted Cash                                       | 3             | (8             | )  |
| Short Term Securities Acquired   | (41           | ) (60          | )  |
| Short Term Securities Redeemed   | (41<br>46     | 48             | )  |
|  | 40<br>7       |                |    |
| Other Transactions   |               | 4              | `` |
| Total Cash Flows from Investing Activities                                   | (421          | ) (502         | )  |
| Cash Flows from Financing Activities:  | 10            | 20             |    |
| Short Term Debt and Overdrafts Incurred                                      | 18            | 29             | `` |
| Short Term Debt and Overdrafts Paid  | (24           | ) (51          | )  |
| Long Term Debt Incurred  | 1,314         | 2,115          |    |
| Long Term Debt Paid  | (823          | ) (639         | )  |
| Common Stock Issued  | 31            | 5              |    |
| Common Stock Repurchased (Note 12)   | (65           | ) —            |    |
| Common Stock Dividends Paid (Note 12)  | (26           | ) —            |    |
| Preferred Stock Dividends Paid (Note 12)                                     | (15           | ) (15          | )  |
| Transactions with Minority Interests in Subsidiaries                         | (34           | ) (8           | )  |
| Debt Related Costs and Other Transactions                                    |               | (16            | )  |
| Total Cash Flows from Financing Activities                                   | 376           | 1,420          |    |
| Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents                 | (180          | ) (173         | )  |
|  |               |                |    |

| Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents   | (1,359  | ) | 283     |
|---|---------|---|---------|
| Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Period                                | 2,996   |   | 2,281   |
| Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Period                                      | \$1,637 |   | \$2,564 |
| The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial stateme | ents.   |   |         |

- 4-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

#### NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

#### Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared by The Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company (the "Company," "Goodyear," "we," "us" or "our") in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission rules a regulations and generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("US GAAP") and in the opinion of management contain all adjustments (including normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. These interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 (the "2013 Form 10-K").

We are a party to shareholder agreements concerning certain of our less-than-wholly-owned consolidated subsidiaries. Under the terms of certain of these agreements, the minority shareholders have the right to require us to purchase their ownership interests in the respective subsidiaries if there is a change in control of Goodyear, a bankruptcy of Goodyear, or other circumstances. Accordingly, we have reported the minority equity in those subsidiaries outside of shareholders' equity.

Operating results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 are not necessarily indicative of the results expected in subsequent quarters or for the year ending December 31, 2014.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued an accounting standards update with new guidance on recognizing revenue from contracts with customers. The standards update outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to utilize to recognize revenue when it transfers goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that will be received in exchange for the goods and services. Additional disclosures will also be required to enable users to understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The standards update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and early adoption is not permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standards update on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2014, the FASB issued an accounting standards update providing new guidance on the requirements for reporting a discontinued operation. The standards update allows only those disposals representing a strategic shift in operations with a major effect on the entity's operations and financial results to be reported as a discontinued operation. It also allows companies to have significant continuing involvement and continuing cash flows with the discontinued operations. Additional disclosures are also required for discontinued operations and individually material disposal transactions that do not meet the definition of a discontinued operation. The standards update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2014. We will adopt this standards update, as required, beginning with the first quarter of 2015. The adoption of this standards update affects presentation only and, as such, is not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

Effective January 1, 2014, we adopted an accounting standards update requiring the presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit in the financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward. This net presentation is required unless a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward is not available at the reporting date or the tax law of the jurisdiction does not require, and the entity does not intend to use, the deferred tax asset to settle any additional income tax that would result from the disallowance of the unrecognized tax benefit. The adoption of this standards update did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2014, we adopted an accounting standards update providing guidance with respect to the release of cumulative translation adjustments into net income when a parent sells either a part or all of its investment in a foreign entity. The standards update also requires the release of cumulative translation adjustments when a company no longer holds a controlling financial interest in a subsidiary or group of assets that is a business within a foreign entity, and provides guidance for the acquisition in stages of a controlling interest in a foreign entity. The adoption of this standards update did not impact our consolidated financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2014, we adopted an accounting standards update requiring an entity to record obligations resulting from joint and several liability arrangements for which the total amount of the obligation is fixed at the reporting date. The adoption of this standards update did not impact our consolidated financial statements.

|   | 5   |   |
|---|-----|---|
| - | - 7 | • |
|   | ~   |   |

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

#### Reclassifications and Adjustments

Certain items previously reported in specific financial statement captions have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

#### NOTE 2. COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH RATIONALIZATION PROGRAMS

In order to maintain our global competitiveness, we have implemented rationalization actions over the past several years to reduce high-cost manufacturing capacity and associate headcount. The following table shows the roll-forward of our liability between periods:

|   |               | Other Exit and | d      |   |
|---|---------------|----------------|--------|---|
| (In millions)                                 | Associate-    | Non-cancelab   | le     |   |
|   | Related Costs | Lease Costs    | Total  |   |
| Balance at December 31, 2013                  | \$232         | \$5            | \$237  |   |
| 2014 Charges (1)                              | 59            | 33             | 92     |   |
| Reversed to the Statements of Operations      | (5)           | ·              | (5     | ) |
| Incurred, Net of Foreign Currency Translation | (95 )         | (28            | ) (123 | ) |
| Balance at June 30, 2014                      | \$191         | \$10           | \$201  |   |

(1) Charges in the first six months of 2014 of \$92 million exclude \$22 million of pension curtailment gains recorded in Rationalizations in the Statement of Operations.

Significant rationalization actions initiated in 2014 consisted primarily of manufacturing headcount reductions related to Europe, Middle East and Africa's ("EMEA") plans to improve operating efficiency. In addition, EMEA, Latin America and Asia Pacific also initiated plans to reduce selling, administrative and general ("SAG") headcount. The accrual balance of \$201 million at June 30, 2014 is expected to be substantially utilized within the next 12 months and includes \$153 million related to the plan to exit the farm tire business and close one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France.

The following table shows net rationalization charges included in Income before Income Taxes:

|  | Three Months Ended |      | Six Months | s Ended |
|--|--------------------|------|------------|---------|
|  | June 30,           |      | June 30,   |         |
|  | 2014               | 2013 | 2014       | 2013    |
| Current Year Plans                                   |                    |      |            |         |
| Associate Severance and Other Related Costs          | \$5                | \$5  | \$9        | \$5     |
| Other Exit and Non-Cancelable Lease Costs            |                    |      | 1          |         |
| Current Year Plans - Net Charges                     | \$5                | \$5  | \$10       | \$5     |
| Prior Year Plans                                     |                    |      |            |         |
| Associate Severance and Other Related Costs          | \$10               | \$6  | \$45       | \$6     |
| Pension Curtailment Gain                             | (2                 | ) —  | (22        | ) —     |
| Other Exit and Non-Cancelable Lease Costs            | 11                 | 2    | 32         | 9       |
| Prior Year Plans - Net Charges                       | 19                 | 8    | 55         | 15      |
| Total Net Charges                                    | \$24               | \$13 | \$65       | \$20    |
| Asset Write-off and Accelerated Depreciation Charges | \$2                | \$5  | \$3        | \$10    |

Substantially all of the new charges for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 related to future cash outflows. Net prior year plan charges for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 of \$19 million and \$55 million, respectively, include charges of \$14 million and \$64 million, respectively, for associate severance and idle

plant costs, partially offset by a pension curtailment gain of \$2 million and \$22 million, respectively, related to the closure of one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France. Net charges for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 included reversals of \$2 million and \$5 million, respectively, and net charges for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 included reversals of \$4 million and \$7 million, respectively, for actions no longer needed for their originally intended purposes.

- 6-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Approximately 200 associates will be released under plans initiated in 2014, of which approximately 100 associates have been released as of June 30, 2014. In the first six months of 2014, approximately 1,300 associates were released under plans initiated in prior years, primarily related to the plan to exit the farm tire business in EMEA and close one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France. In total, approximately 400 associates remain to be released under rationalization plans. We believe that some former associates of the closed Amiens, France manufacturing facility may assert wrongful termination or other claims against us. We are currently unable to estimate the number and amount of any claims that may ultimately be asserted against us, but intend to vigorously defend any such claims. Accelerated depreciation charges for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 related to property and equipment in one of our manufacturing facilities in the United Kingdom ("U.K.") and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 related primarily to property and equipment in one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France. Accelerated depreciation charges for all periods were recorded in cost of goods sold ("CGS").

#### NOTE 3. OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSE

|  | Three Months Ended |        | Six Month | s Ended |   |
|--|--------------------|--------|-----------|---------|---|
|  | June 30,           |        | June 30,  |         |   |
| (In millions)                                    | 2014               | 2013   | 2014      | 2013    |   |
| Net foreign currency exchange (gains) losses     | \$(2               | ) \$(5 | ) \$151   | \$118   |   |
| Financing fees and financial instruments         | 15                 | 14     | 29        | 27      |   |
| Interest income                                  | (13                | ) (7   | ) (19     | ) (12   | ) |
| Royalty income                                   | (9                 | ) (19  | ) (18     | ) (29   | ) |
| General and product liability — discontinued pro | oductsl            | 5      | 17        | 8       |   |
| Net (gains) losses on asset sales                | (5                 | ) (5   | ) (3      | ) (3    | ) |
| Miscellaneous                                    | 11                 | 3      | 19        | 3       |   |
|  | \$8                | \$(14  | ) \$176   | \$112   |   |

Net foreign currency exchange gains in the second quarter of 2014 were \$2 million, compared to net gains of \$5 million in the second quarter of 2013. Net losses in the first six months of 2014 and 2013 were \$151 million and \$118 million, respectively, which included a net remeasurement loss of \$157 million and \$115 million, respectively, resulting from the devaluation of the Venezuelan bolivar fuerte against the U.S. dollar. Foreign currency exchange also reflects net gains and losses resulting from the effect of exchange rate changes on various foreign currency transactions worldwide.

Effective February 13, 2013, Venezuela's official exchange rate changed from 4.3 to 6.3 bolivares fuertes to the U.S. dollar for substantially all goods. Effective January 24, 2014, Venezuela's exchange rate applicable to the settlement of certain transactions, including payments of dividends and royalties, changed to an auction-based floating rate, the Complementary System of Foreign Currency Administration ("SICAD I") rate, which was 11.4 and 10.6 bolivares fuertes to the U.S. dollar at January 24, 2014 and June 30, 2014, respectively. The official exchange rate for imports of essential goods, such as certain raw materials needed for the production of tires, remained at 6.3 bolivares fuertes to the U.S. dollar; however, the previously existing subsidy exchange rate of 4.3 bolivares fuertes to the U.S. dollar was eliminated and, accordingly, we derecognized \$11 million of previously recognized subsidy receivables as part of the \$157 million remeasurement loss.

We are required to remeasure our bolivar-denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the rate expected to be available for future dividend remittances by our Venezuelan subsidiary. We expect that future remittances of dividends by our Venezuelan subsidiary will be transacted at the SICAD I rate and, therefore, we recorded a remeasurement loss of \$157 million using the SICAD I rate of 11.4 bolivares fuertes to the U.S. dollar as of January 24, 2014. We also recorded a subsidy receivable at that date of \$50 million related to certain U.S. dollar-denominated payables that are expected to be settled at the official exchange rate of 6.3 bolivares fuertes to the U.S. dollar for

essential goods, based on ongoing approvals for importation of such goods. At June 30, 2014, the subsidy receivable was \$52 million. A portion of this subsidy will reduce cost of goods sold in periods when the related inventory is sold. The SICAD I rate has fluctuated since January 24, 2014 and was 10.6 bolivares fuertes to the U.S. dollar at June 30, 2014 and, accordingly, we have recognized a net foreign currency exchange gain of \$15 million resulting from the decrease in the SICAD I rate from January 24, 2014 to June 30, 2014. All bolivar-denominated monetary assets and liabilities were remeasured at 10.6 and 6.3 bolivares fuertes to the U.S. dollar at June 30, 2013, respectively.

- 7-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Interest income in the second quarter of 2014 was \$13 million, compared to interest income of \$7 million in the second quarter of 2013. Interest income in the second quarter of 2014 included \$9 million earned on the settlement of indirect tax claims in Latin America.

Royalty income in the second quarter of 2014 was \$9 million, compared to royalty income of \$19 million in the second quarter of 2013. Royalty income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 included a one-time royalty of \$8 million related to chemical operations. Royalty income is derived primarily from licensing arrangements related to divested businesses.

Miscellaneous expense in the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 included charges of \$10 million and \$17 million, respectively, and in the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 included charges of \$5 million, for labor claims related to a previously closed facility in EMEA.

Also included in Other (Income) Expense are financing fees and financial instruments expense consisting of the amortization of deferred financing fees, commitment fees and charges incurred in connection with financing transactions; and general and product liability — discontinued products which includes charges for claims against us related primarily to asbestos personal injury claims, net of probable insurance recoveries.

#### NOTE 4. INCOME TAXES

In the second quarter of 2014, we recorded tax expense of \$60 million on income before income taxes of \$292 million. For the first six months of 2014, we recorded tax expense of \$68 million on income before income taxes of \$262 million. In the second quarter of 2013, we recorded tax expense of \$63 million on income before income taxes of \$256 million. Income tax expense in the second quarter of 2013 was unfavorably impacted by a \$5 million adjustment related to prior years and a \$3 million settlement of a foreign tax audit. For the first six months of 2013, we recorded tax expense of \$306 million. Income tax expense for the first six months of 2013 was favorably impacted by \$4 million due primarily to newly enacted law changes exceeding the discrete items noted above.

We record taxes based on overall estimated annual effective tax rates. In addition to the discrete items related to 2013 noted above, the differences between our effective tax rate and the U.S. statutory rate in both years were primarily attributable to charges that are not deductible for tax purposes related to the devaluation of the bolivar fuerte in Venezuela and continuing to maintain a full valuation allowance on our U.S. and certain foreign deferred tax assets. At January 1, 2014, our valuation allowance on our U.S. deferred tax assets was approximately \$2,400 million. Each reporting period we assess available positive and negative evidence and estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to utilize the existing deferred tax assets. Through 2012 our history of U.S. operating losses limited the weight we could apply to other subjective evidence such as our projections for future profitability. Recent positive evidence includes our profitable U.S. results for the last six quarters and full funding of our hourly U.S. pension plans in January 2014, which eliminates volatility in Other Comprehensive Income. This recent positive evidence provides us the opportunity to apply greater significance to our projections in assessing the need for a valuation allowance. We believe it is reasonably possible that sufficient positive evidence will exist during 2014 to release all or a significant portion of our valuation allowance on our U.S. deferred tax assets.

Our losses in various foreign taxing jurisdictions in recent periods represented sufficient negative evidence to require us to maintain a full valuation allowance against certain of our net deferred tax assets. However, it is reasonably possible that sufficient positive evidence required to release all, or a portion, of certain valuation allowances will exist within the next 12 months. This may result in a reduction of the valuation allowance by up to \$105 million. At January 1, 2014, we had unrecognized tax benefits of \$88 million that if recognized, would have a favorable impact on our tax expense of \$78 million. We had accrued interest of \$16 million as of January 1, 2014. If not favorably settled, \$32 million of the unrecognized tax benefits and all of the accrued interest would require the use of our cash. It is reasonably possible that our total amount of unrecognized tax benefits may change during the next 12 months. However, we do not expect these changes to have a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations.

Generally, years from 2008 onward are still open to examination by foreign taxing authorities. We are open to examination in Germany from 2006 onward and in the United States for 2013.

- 8-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

#### NOTE 5. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share are calculated to reflect the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts were exercised or converted into common stock.

Basic and diluted earnings per common share are calculated as follows:

| 3°1  | Three Months Ended June 30, |        | Six Months En<br>June 30, | ded    |
|--|-----------------------------|--------|---------------------------|--------|
| (In millions, except per share amounts)                        | 2014                        | 2013   | 2014                      | 2013   |
| Earnings per share — basic:                                    |                             |        |                           |        |
| Goodyear net income  | \$213                       | \$188  | \$162                     | \$221  |
| Less: Preferred stock dividends                                |                             | 7      | 7                         | 15     |
| Goodyear net income available to common shareholders           | \$213                       | \$181  | \$155                     | \$206  |
| Weighted average shares outstanding                            | 276                         | 246    | 262                       | 246    |
| Earnings per common share — basic                              | \$0.77                      | \$0.74 | \$0.59                    | \$0.84 |
| Earnings per share — diluted:                                  | ¢ 2.1.2                     | ¢100   | ¢1.0                      | ¢ 221  |
| Goodyear net income  | \$213                       | \$188  | \$162                     | \$221  |
| Less: Preferred stock dividends                                |                             |        |                           |        |
| Goodyear net income available to common shareholders           | \$213                       | \$188  | \$162                     | \$221  |
| Weighted average shares outstanding                            | 276                         | 246    | 262                       | 246    |
| Dilutive effect of mandatory convertible preferred stock       |                             | 33     | 14                        | 33     |
| Dilutive effect of stock options and other dilutive securities | 5                           | 3      | 5                         | 2      |
| Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted                  | 281                         | 282    | 281                       | 281    |
| Earnings per common share — diluted                            | \$0.76                      | \$0.67 | \$0.58                    | \$0.79 |

Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 excludes approximately 1 million and 2 million equivalent shares, respectively, and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 excludes approximately 5 million and 6 million equivalent shares, respectively, related to options with exercise prices greater than the average market price of our common shares (i.e., "underwater" options).

On April 1, 2014, all outstanding shares of mandatory convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 27,573,735 shares of common stock, net of fractional shares, at a conversion rate of 2.7574 shares of common stock per share of preferred stock.

- 9-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

#### NOTE 6. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

|   | Three Months Ended |   |         | Six Months Ended |          |         |
|---|--------------------|---|---------|------------------|----------|---------|
|   | June 30,           |   |         |                  | June 30, |         |
| (In millions)                                 | 2014               |   | 2013    |                  | 2014     | 2013    |
| Sales:  |                    |   |         |                  |          |         |
| North America                                 | \$2,044            |   | \$2,201 |                  | \$3,923  | \$4,367 |
| Europe, Middle East and Africa                | 1,580              |   | 1,577   |                  | 3,256    | 3,184   |
| Latin America                                 | 489                |   | 531     |                  | 911      | 1,044   |
| Asia Pacific                                  | 543                |   | 585     |                  | 1,035    | 1,152   |
| Net Sales                                     | \$4,656            |   | \$4,894 |                  | \$9,125  | \$9,747 |
| Segment Operating Income:                     |                    |   |         |                  |          |         |
| North America                                 | \$208              |   | \$204   |                  | \$364    | \$331   |
| Europe, Middle East and Africa                | 117                |   | 51      |                  | 227      | 82      |
| Latin America                                 | 59                 |   | 82      |                  | 101      | 142     |
| Asia Pacific                                  | 76                 |   | 91      |                  | 141      | 175     |
| Total Segment Operating Income                | 460                |   | 428     |                  | 833      | 730     |
| Less:   |                    |   |         |                  |          |         |
| Rationalizations                              | 24                 |   | 13      |                  | 65       | 20      |
| Interest expense                              | 102                |   | 102     |                  | 207      | 187     |
| Other (income) expense                        | 8                  |   | (14     | )                | 176      | 112     |
| Asset write-offs and accelerated depreciation | 2                  |   | 5       |                  | 3        | 10      |
| Corporate incentive compensation plans        | 19                 |   | 35      |                  | 46       | 45      |
| Pension curtailments/settlements              |                    |   |         |                  | 33       |         |
| Intercompany profit elimination               | (4                 | ) | (3      | )                | 9        |         |
| Retained expenses of divested operations      | 3                  |   | 6       |                  | 7        | 10      |
| Other <sup>(1)</sup>                          | 14                 |   | 28      |                  | 25       | 40      |
| Income before Income Taxes                    | \$292              |   | \$256   |                  | \$262    | \$306   |

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, Other includes the elimination of \$5 million and \$12 million, (1)respectively, of royalty income attributable to the strategic business units, compared to \$16 million and \$23 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013.

- 10-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Substantially all of the pension curtailment charges of \$33 million for the six months ended June 30, 2014 noted above related to our North America strategic business unit ("SBU"); however, such costs were not included in North America segment operating income for purposes of management's assessment of SBU operating performance. In addition, rationalizations, as described in Note 2, Costs Associated with Rationalization Programs; net (gains) losses on asset sales, as described in Note 3, Other (Income) Expense; and asset write-offs and accelerated depreciation are not (credited) charged to the SBUs for performance evaluation purposes, but were attributable to the SBUs as follows:

|   | Three Months Ended<br>June 30, |        | Six Months Er<br>June 30, | ıded     |
|---|--------------------------------|--------|---------------------------|----------|
| (In millions)   | 2014                           | 2013   | 2014                      | 2013     |
| Rationalizations:   |                                |        |                           |          |
| North America   | \$—                            | \$5    | \$(1                      | ) \$7    |
| Europe, Middle East and Africa                              | 20                             | 3      | 58                        | 6        |
| Latin America   | 1                              | 2      | 1                         | 2        |
| Asia Pacific  | 3                              | 3      | 7                         | 5        |
| Total Segment Rationalizations                              | \$24                           | \$13   | \$65                      | \$20     |
| Net (Gains) Losses on Asset Sales:                          |                                |        |                           |          |
| North America   | \$(1                           | ) \$(3 | ) \$(1                    | ) \$(2 ) |
| Europe, Middle East and Africa                              | (2                             | ) —    |                           | 2        |
| Latin America   |                                | 1      |                           |          |
| Asia Pacific  |                                | (3     | ) —                       | (3)      |
| Total Segment Asset Sales                                   | \$(3                           | ) \$(5 | ) \$(1                    | ) \$(3 ) |
| Corporate   | (2                             | ) —    | (2                        | ) —      |
| -   | \$(5                           | ) \$(5 | ) \$(3                    | ) \$(3 ) |
| Asset Write-offs and Accelerated Depreciation:              |                                |        |                           |          |
| Europe, Middle East and Africa                              | \$2                            | \$5    | \$3                       | \$10     |
| Total Segment Asset Write-offs and Accelerated Depreciation | \$2                            | \$5    | \$3                       | \$10     |

NOTE 7. FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

At June 30, 2014, we had total credit arrangements of \$9,321 million, of which \$2,236 million were unused. At that date, 39% of our debt was at variable interest rates averaging 5.47%.

Notes Payable and Overdrafts, Long Term Debt and Capital Leases due Within One Year and Short Term Financing Arrangements

At June 30, 2014, we had short term committed and uncommitted credit arrangements totaling \$490 million, of which \$483 million were unused. These arrangements are available primarily to certain of our foreign subsidiaries through various banks at quoted market interest rates.

- 11-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following table presents amounts due within one year:

|  | June 30, |   | December | : 31, |
|--|----------|---|----------|-------|
| (In millions)  | 2014     |   | 2013     |       |
| Notes payable and overdrafts                                     | \$7      |   | \$14     |       |
| Weighted average interest rate                                   | 2.09     | % | 3.40     | %     |
| Long term debt and capital leases due within one year            |          |   |          |       |
| Other domestic and international debt (including capital leases) | \$78     |   | \$73     |       |
| Weighted average interest rate                                   | 5.59     | % | 6.91     | %     |
| Total obligations due within one year                            | \$85     |   | \$87     |       |

Long Term Debt and Capital Leases and Financing Arrangements

At June 30, 2014, we had long term credit arrangements totaling \$8,831 million, of which \$1,753 million were unused.

The following table presents long term debt and capital leases, net of unamortized discounts, and interest rates:

|  | June 30, 2014 |          | December 31, 2013 |          |  |
|--|---------------|----------|-------------------|----------|--|
|  |               | Interest |                   | Interest |  |
| (In millions)  | Amount        | Rate     | Amount            | Rate     |  |
| Notes:   |               |          |                   |          |  |
| 6.75% Euro Notes due 2019                              | \$342         |          | \$344             |          |  |
| 8.25% due 2020   | 995           |          | 995               |          |  |
| 8.75% due 2020   | 268           |          | 267               |          |  |
| 6.5% due 2021  | 900           |          | 900               |          |  |
| 7% due 2022  | 700           |          | 700               |          |  |
| 7% due 2028  | 150           |          | 150               |          |  |
| Credit Facilities:                                     |               |          |                   |          |  |
| \$2.0 billion first lien revolving credit facility due |               |          |                   |          |  |
| 2017   |               |          |                   |          |  |
| \$1.2 billion second lien term loan facility due 2019  | 0 1,195       | 4.75     | % 1,195           | 4.75 %   |  |
| €400 million revolving credit facility due 2016        | 314           | 2.53     | % —               |          |  |
| Pan-European accounts receivable facility due          | 351           | 2.95     | % 207             | 3.19 %   |  |
| 2015   |               |          |                   |          |  |
| Chinese credit facilities                              | 533           |          | % 537             | 5.86 %   |  |
| Other foreign and domestic debt <sup>(1)</sup>         | 951           | 8.90     | % 878             | 8.97 %   |  |
|  | 6,699         |          | 6,173             |          |  |
| Capital lease obligations                              | 56            |          | 62                |          |  |
|  | 6,755         |          | 6,235             |          |  |
| Less portion due within one year                       | (78           | )        | (73               | )        |  |
|  | \$6,677       |          | \$6,162           |          |  |

(1) Interest rates are weighted average interest rates related to various foreign credit facilities with customary terms and conditions and domestic debt related to our Global and North America Headquarters.

- 12-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

#### CREDIT FACILITIES

\$2.0 billion Amended and Restated First Lien Revolving Credit Facility due 2017

Our amended and restated first lien revolving credit facility is available in the form of loans or letters of credit, with letter of credit availability limited to \$800 million. Subject to the consent of the lenders whose commitments are to be increased, we may request that the facility be increased by up to \$250 million. Our obligations under the facility are guaranteed by most of our wholly-owned U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries. Our obligations under the facility and our subsidiaries' obligations under the related guarantees are secured by first priority security interests in a variety of collateral. Amounts drawn under this facility will bear interest at LIBOR plus 150 basis points.

Availability under the facility is subject to a borrowing base, which is based primarily on eligible accounts receivable and inventory of The Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company and certain of its U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries. To the extent that our eligible accounts receivable and inventory decline, our borrowing base will decrease and the availability under the facility may decrease below \$2.0 billion. As of June 30, 2014, our borrowing base, and therefore our availability, under this facility was \$429 million below the facility's stated amount of \$2.0 billion. The facility has customary representations and warranties including, as a condition to borrowing, that all such representations and warranties are true and correct, in all material respects, on the date of the borrowing, including representations as to no material adverse change in our financial condition since December 31, 2011. The facility also has customary defaults, including a cross-default to material indebtedness of Goodyear and our subsidiaries. At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, there were no borrowings outstanding under the first lien revolving credit facility. Letters of credit issued totaled \$374 million at June 30, 2014 and \$375 million at December 31, 2013. \$1.2 billion Amended and Restated Second Lien Term Loan Facility due 2019

Our obligations under our amended and restated second lien term loan facility are guaranteed by most of our wholly-owned U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries and are secured by second priority security interests in the same collateral securing the \$2.0 billion first lien revolving credit facility. This facility may be increased by up to \$300 million at our request, subject to the consent of the lenders making such additional term loans. The term loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 375 basis points, subject to a minimum LIBOR rate of 100 basis points. At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, this facility was fully drawn.

€400 million Amended and Restated Senior Secured European Revolving Credit Facility due 2016 Our amended and restated €400 million European revolving credit facility consists of (i) a €100 million German tranche that is available only to Goodyear Dunlop Tires Germany GmbH (the "German borrower") and (ii) a €300 million all-borrower tranche that is available to Goodyear Dunlop Tires Europe B.V. ("GDTE"), the German borrower and certain of GDTE's other subsidiaries. Up to €50 million in letters of credit are available for issuance under the all-borrower tranche. Amounts drawn under this facility will bear interest at LIBOR plus 250 basis points for loans denominated in U.S. dollars or pounds sterling and EURIBOR plus 250 basis points for loans denominated in euros. GDTE and certain of its subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, Luxembourg, France and Germany provide guarantees to support the facility. The German guarantors secure the German tranche on a first-lien basis and the all-borrower tranche on a second-lien basis. GDTE and its other subsidiaries that provide guarantees secure the all-borrower tranche on a first-lien basis and do not provide collateral support for the German tranche. The Company and its U.S. subsidiaries and primary Canadian subsidiary that guarantee our U.S. senior secured credit facilities described above also provide unsecured guarantees in support of the facility.

The facility has customary representations and warranties including, as a condition to borrowing, that all such representations and warranties are true and correct, in all material respects, on the date of the borrowing, including representations as to no material adverse change in our financial condition since December 31, 2010. The facility also has customary defaults, including a cross-default to material indebtedness of Goodyear and our subsidiaries. At June 30, 2014, the amounts outstanding under the all-borrower tranche were \$314 million (€230 million). At December 31, 2013, there were no borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facility. Letters of credit issued under the all-borrower tranche totaled \$5 million (€3 million) at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

Accounts Receivable Securitization Facilities (On-Balance Sheet)

GDTE and certain of its subsidiaries are parties to a pan-European accounts receivable securitization facility that provides up to  $\notin$ 450 million of funding and expires on July 30, 2015. Utilization under this facility is based on eligible receivable balances. The facility is subject to the customary renewal of its back-up liquidity commitments, which expire on October 17, 2014.

- 13-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The facility involves an ongoing daily sale of substantially all of the trade accounts receivable of certain GDTE subsidiaries to a bankruptcy-remote French company controlled by one of the liquidity banks in the facility. These subsidiaries retain servicing responsibilities. At June 30, 2014, the amounts available and utilized under this program totaled \$351 million (€256 million). At December 31, 2013, the amounts available and utilized under this program totaled \$386 million (€280 million) and \$207 million (€150 million), respectively. The program does not qualify for sale accounting, and accordingly, these amounts are included in Long Term Debt and Capital Leases. In addition to the pan-European accounts receivable securitization facility discussed above, subsidiaries in Australia have an accounts receivable securitization program that provides up to \$80 million (85 million. At December 31, 2013, the amounts available and utilized under this program were \$52 million. At December 31, 2013, the amounts available and utilized under this program were \$52 million. At December 31, 2013, the amounts available and utilized under this program were \$52 million, respectively. The receivables sold under this program also serve as collateral for the related facility. We retain the risk of loss related to these receivables in the event of non-payment. These amounts are included in Long Term Debt and Capital Leases. For a description of the collateral securing the credit facilities described above as well as the covenants applicable to them, refer to the Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements No. 14, Financing Arrangements and Derivative Financial Instruments, in our 2013 Form 10-K.

Accounts Receivable Factoring Facilities (Off-Balance Sheet)

Various subsidiaries sold certain of their trade receivables under off-balance sheet programs. For these programs, we have concluded that there is generally no risk of loss to us from non-payment of the sold receivables. At June 30, 2014, the gross amount of receivables sold was \$307 million, compared to \$301 million at December 31, 2013. Chinese Credit Facilities

A Chinese subsidiary has several financing arrangements in China. At June 30, 2014, these non-revolving credit facilities were fully drawn. There were \$533 million and \$537 million of borrowings outstanding under these facilities at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. The facilities ultimately mature in 2020 and principal amortization begins in 2015. The facilities contain covenants relating to the Chinese subsidiary and have customary representations and warranties and defaults relating to the Chinese subsidiary's ability to perform its obligations under the facilities. Restricted cash related to funds obtained under these credit facilities was \$6 million and \$11 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. These facilities can only be used to finance the relocation and expansion of our manufacturing facility in China.

#### DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We utilize derivative financial instrument contracts and nonderivative instruments to manage interest rate, foreign exchange and commodity price risks. We have established a control environment that includes policies and procedures for risk assessment and the approval, reporting and monitoring of derivative financial instrument activities. We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

#### Foreign Currency Contracts

We will enter into foreign currency contracts in order to manage the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on our consolidated results of operations and future foreign currency-denominated cash flows. These contracts reduce exposure to currency movements affecting existing foreign currency-denominated assets, liabilities, firm commitments and forecasted transactions resulting primarily from trade purchases and sales, equipment acquisitions, intercompany loans and royalty agreements. Contracts hedging short term trade receivables and payables normally have no hedging designation.

The following table presents fair values for foreign currency contracts not designated as hedging instruments:

|                               | ç . | June | 30, Decemb | er 31, |
|-------------------------------|-----|------|------------|--------|
| (In millions)                 |     | 2014 | 4 2013     |        |
| Fair Values — asset (liabilit | y): |      |            |        |
| Accounts receivable           |     | \$12 | \$3        |        |
| Other current liabilities     |     | (7   | ) (17      | )      |
|                               |     |      |            |        |

At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, these outstanding foreign currency derivatives had notional amounts of \$920 million and \$1,231 million, respectively, and were primarily related to intercompany loans. Other (Income) Expense included net transaction gains of \$3 million and net transaction losses of \$5 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively, compared to net transaction losses of \$13 million and gains of \$7 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively.

- 14-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

These amounts were substantially offset in Other (Income) Expense by the effect of changing exchange rates on the underlying currency exposures.

| TTI C 11 1 1         | 1                    | C C '                |                       | as cash flow hedging instruments: |
|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------------|
| I ha tallawing tabla | nracante tair valuae | tor toraign currance | i contracte dacimatad | as each flow hadging instrumants. |
|                      | DICSCIES IAIL VALUES |                      |                       |                                   |
|                      |                      |                      |                       |                                   |

|                                  | June 30, | December 3 | 1, |
|----------------------------------|----------|------------|----|
| (In millions)                    | 2014     | 2013       |    |
| Fair Values — asset (liability): |          |            |    |
| Accounts receivable              | \$1      | \$3        |    |
| Other current liabilities        | (2       | ) (3       | )  |
|                                  |          |            |    |

At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, these outstanding foreign currency derivatives had notional amounts of \$154 million and \$171 million, respectively, and primarily related to intercompany transactions.

We enter into master netting agreements with counterparties. The amounts eligible for offset under the master netting agreements are not material and we have elected a gross presentation of foreign currency contracts in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The following table presents information related to foreign currency contracts designated as cash flow hedging instruments (before tax and minority):

|  | Three Mor        | Three Months Ended |     | Six Months Ende |           |   |
|--|------------------|--------------------|-----|-----------------|-----------|---|
|  | June 30,         |                    |     | June 30,        |           |   |
| (In millions) (Income) Expense                                       | 2014             | 2013               |     | 2014            | 2013      |   |
| Amounts deferred to Accumulated Other Comprehensive<br>Loss ("AOCL") | <sup>e</sup> \$— | \$(3               | )   | \$2             | \$(7      | ) |
| Amount of deferred (gain) loss reclassified from AOCL into CGS       | _                | 2                  |     | 1               | 2         |   |
| Amounts excluded from effectiveness testing                          | 1                |                    |     | 1               |           |   |
|  | 4 .1             | . 1 . 1 1          | • • | 1               | • .1 • .1 |   |

The estimated amount of deferred losses at June 30, 2014 that is expected to be reclassified to earnings within the next twelve months is \$2 million.

The counterparties to our foreign currency contracts were considered by us to be substantial and creditworthy financial institutions that are recognized market makers at the time we entered into those contracts. We seek to control our credit exposure to these counterparties by diversifying across multiple counterparties, by setting counterparty credit limits based on long term credit ratings and other indicators of counterparty credit risk such as credit default swap spreads, and by monitoring the financial strength of these counterparties on a regular basis. We also enter into master netting agreements with counterparties when possible. By controlling and monitoring exposure to counterparties in this manner, we believe that we effectively manage the risk of loss due to nonperformance by a counterparty. However, the inability of a counterparty to fulfill its contractual obligations to us could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial position or results of operations in the period in which it occurs.

- 15-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

#### NOTE 8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following table presents information about assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

|                                 | Total Carrying<br>Value in the<br>Consolidated<br>Balance Sheet |      | Quoted Prices in<br>Active Markets for<br>Identical<br>Assets/Liabilities<br>(Level 1) |      | Significant Other<br>Observable Inputs<br>(Level 2) |      | Significant<br>Unobservable<br>Inputs<br>(Level 3) |      |
|---------------------------------|---|------|--|------|---|------|--|------|
| (In millions)                   | 2014  | 2013 | 2014   | 2013 | 2014  | 2013 | 2014   | 2013 |
| Assets:                         |   |      |  |      |   |      |  |      |
| Investments                     | \$54  | \$53 | \$54   | \$53 | \$—   | \$—  | \$—  | \$—  |
| Foreign Exchange Contracts      | 13  | 6    |  | —    | 13  | 6    |  |      |
| Total Assets at Fair Value      | \$67  | \$59 | \$54   | \$53 | \$13  | \$6  | \$—  | \$—  |
| Liabilities:                    |   |      |  |      |   |      |  |      |
| Foreign Exchange Contracts      | \$9   | \$20 | \$—  | \$—  | \$9   | \$20 | \$—  | \$—  |
| Total Liabilities at Fair Value | \$9   | \$20 | \$—  | \$—  | \$9   | \$20 | \$—  | \$—  |

The following table presents supplemental fair value information about long term fixed rate and variable rate debt, excluding capital leases, at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013. The fair value was estimated using quoted market prices.

| (In millions)<br>Fixed Rate Debt: | June 30,<br>2014 | December 31, 2013 |
|-----------------------------------|------------------|-------------------|
| Carrying amount — liability       | \$4,068          | \$4,090           |
| Fair value — liability            | 4,419            | 4,414             |
| Variable Rate Debt:               |                  |                   |
| Carrying amount — liability       | \$2,631          | \$2,083           |
| Fair value — liability            | 2,627            | 2,095             |

- 16-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

## NOTE 9. PENSION, SAVINGS AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

We provide employees with defined benefit pension or defined contribution savings plans. Defined benefit pension cost follows:

|   | U.S.               |       |                  | U.S.             |        |  |
|---|--------------------|-------|------------------|------------------|--------|--|
|   | Three Months Ended |       | Six Months Ended |                  |        |  |
|   | June 30,           |       |                  | June 30,         |        |  |
| (In millions)                                     | 2014               | 201   | 3                | 2014             | 2013   |  |
| Service cost — benefits earned during the period  | \$4                | \$12  | ,<br>,           | \$13             | \$23   |  |
| Interest cost on projected benefit obligation     | 63                 | 60    |                  | 128              | 121    |  |
| Expected return on plan assets                    | (77                | ) (84 | )                | (157             | ) (168 |  |
| Amortization of: — prior service cost             |                    | 5     |                  | 1                | 9      |  |
| — net losses                                      | 27                 | 50    |                  | 60               | 103    |  |
| Net periodic pension cost                         | 17                 | 43    |                  | 45               | 88     |  |
| Net curtailments/settlements/termination benefits |                    |       |                  | 32               |        |  |
| Total defined benefit pension cost                | \$17               | \$43  |                  | \$77             | \$88   |  |
|   | Non-U.S.           |       |                  | Non-U.S.         |        |  |
|   | Three Months Ended |       | 1                | Six Months Ended |        |  |
|   | June 30,           |       |                  | June 30,         |        |  |
| (In millions)                                     | 2014               | 201   | 3                | 2014             | 2013   |  |
| Service cost — benefits earned during the period  | \$9                | \$10  |                  | \$18             | \$20   |  |
| Interest cost on projected benefit obligation     | 34                 | 32    |                  | 68               | 65     |  |
| Expected return on plan assets                    | (31                | ) (28 | )                | (61              | ) (56  |  |
| Amortization of: — prior service cost             |                    | 1     |                  | —                | 1      |  |
| — net losses                                      | 9                  | 14    |                  | 18               | 30     |  |
| Net periodic pension cost                         | 21                 | 29    |                  | 43               | 60     |  |
| Net curtailments/settlements/termination benefits | (1                 | ) 2   |                  | (14              | ) 2    |  |
| Total defined benefit pension cost                | \$20               | \$31  |                  | \$29             | \$62   |  |

During the first quarter of 2014, we made contributions of \$1,167 million, including discretionary contributions of \$907 million, to fully fund our hourly U.S. pension plans. As a result, and in accordance with our master collective bargaining agreement with the United Steelworkers, the hourly U.S. pension plans were frozen to future accruals effective April 30, 2014. Following these contributions, we changed our target asset allocation for these plans to a portfolio of substantially all fixed income securities designed to offset the future impact of discount rate movements on the plans' funded status.

Due to the accrual freeze and change in target asset allocation, we were required to remeasure the benefit obligations and assets of the hourly U.S. pension plans at January 31, 2014, which resulted in an increase to net actuarial losses included in AOCL of \$31 million. The weighted average discount rate used to measure the benefit obligations of the hourly U.S. pension plans at January 31, 2014 was 4.32% as compared to 4.51% at December 31, 2013. As a result of the change in target asset allocation for the hourly U.S. pension plans, the expected annual long term return on plan assets for the hourly U.S. pension plans is 5.25% as of February 1, 2014.

As a result of the announcement of future accrual freezes to pension plans related to our North America SBU, we recognized curtailment charges of \$33 million in the first quarter of 2014.

During the first quarter of 2014, our largest U.K. pension plans were merged and lump sum payments were made to settle certain obligations of those plans prior to the merger, which resulted in a settlement charge of \$5 million. As a result of these transactions we were required to remeasure the benefit obligations and assets of these plans at January

27

)

)

31, 2014. This resulted in a reduction to net actuarial losses included in AOCL of \$51 million.

- 17-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

In the first quarter of 2014, we ceased production at one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France and recorded curtailment gains of \$2 million and \$22 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively, which are included in rationalization charges, related to the termination of employees at that facility who were participants in our France retirement indemnity plan.

We expect to contribute approximately \$1.3 billion to our funded U.S. and non-U.S. pension plans in 2014, including our first quarter 2014 U.S. pension contributions of \$1,167 million. For the six months ended June 30, 2014, we contributed \$1,167 million to our U.S. plans, all of which was contributed in the first quarter. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we contributed \$26 million and \$72 million, respectively, to our non-U.S. plans. The expense recognized for our contributions to defined contribution savings plans for the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 was \$28 million and \$23 million, respectively, and \$55 million and \$49 million, for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

We provide certain U.S. employees and employees at certain non-U.S. subsidiaries with health care benefits or life insurance benefits upon retirement. Other postretirement benefits credit for the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 was \$(4) million and \$(2) million, respectively, and \$(7) million and \$(4) million for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

#### NOTE 10. STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

Our Board of Directors granted 0.6 million stock options, 0.1 million restricted stock units and 0.1 million performance share units during the six months ended June 30, 2014 under our stock compensation plans. The weighted average exercise price per share and weighted average fair value per share of the stock option grants during the six months ended June 30, 2014 were \$26.44 and \$11.94, respectively. We estimated the fair value of the stock options using the following assumptions in our Black-Scholes model:

Expected term: 7.4 years Interest rate: 2.11% Volatility: 43.94% Dividend yield: 0.76%

We measure the fair value of grants of restricted stock units and performance share units based primarily on the closing market price of a share of our common stock on the date of the grant, modified as appropriate to take into account the features of such grants. The weighted average fair value per share was \$26.39 for restricted stock units and \$29.00 for performance share units granted during the six months ended June 30, 2014.

We recognized stock-based compensation expense of \$5 million and \$12 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively. At June 30, 2014, unearned compensation cost related to the unvested portion of all stock-based awards was approximately \$34 million and is expected to be recognized over the remaining vesting period of the respective grants, through June 2018. We recognized stock-based compensation expense of \$6 million and \$8 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively.

#### NOTE 11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

#### **Environmental Matters**

We have recorded liabilities totaling \$47 million and \$45 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, for anticipated costs related to various environmental matters, primarily the remediation of numerous waste disposal sites and certain properties sold by us. Of these amounts, \$9 million and \$11 million were included in Other Current Liabilities at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. The costs include legal and consulting fees, site studies, the design and implementation of remediation plans, post-remediation monitoring and related activities, and will be paid over several years. The amount of our ultimate liability in respect of these matters may be affected by several uncertainties, primarily the ultimate cost of required remediation and the extent to which

other responsible parties contribute. We have limited potential insurance coverage for future environmental claims. Since many of the remediation activities related to environmental matters vary substantially in duration and cost from site to site and the associated costs for each vary depending on the mix of unique site characteristics, in some cases we cannot reasonably estimate a range of possible losses. Although it is not possible to estimate with certainty the outcome of all of our environmental matters, management believes that potential losses in excess of current reserves for environmental matters, individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, cash flows or results of operations.

- 18-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

#### Workers' Compensation

We have recorded liabilities, on a discounted basis, totaling \$308 million and \$310 million for anticipated costs related to workers' compensation at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. Of these amounts, \$81 million and \$79 million was included in Current Liabilities as part of Compensation and Benefits at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. The costs include an estimate of expected settlements on pending claims, defense costs and a provision for claims incurred but not reported. These estimates are based on our assessment of potential liability using an analysis of available information with respect to pending claims, historical experience, and current cost trends. The amount of our ultimate liability in respect of these matters may differ from these estimates. We periodically, and at least annually, update our loss development factors based on actuarial analyses. At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the liability was discounted using a risk-free rate of return. At June 30, 2014, we estimate that it is reasonably possible that the liability could exceed our recorded amounts by approximately \$40 million. General and Product Liability and Other Litigation

We have recorded liabilities totaling \$317 million and \$305 million, including related legal fees expected to be incurred, for potential product liability and other tort claims, including asbestos claims, at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. Of these amounts, \$43 million and \$45 million were included in Other Current Liabilities at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. The amounts recorded were estimated based on an assessment of potential liability using an analysis of available information with respect to pending claims, historical experience and, where available, recent and current trends. Based upon that assessment, at June 30, 2014, we do not believe that estimated reasonably possible losses associated with general and product liability claims in excess of the amounts recorded will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, cash flows or results of operations. However, the amount of our ultimate liability in respect of these matters may differ from these estimates.

Asbestos. We are a defendant in numerous lawsuits alleging various asbestos-related personal injuries purported to result from alleged exposure to asbestos in certain products manufactured by us or present in certain of our facilities. Typically, these lawsuits have been brought against multiple defendants in state and Federal courts. To date, we have disposed of approximately 108,500 claims by defending and obtaining the dismissal thereof or by entering into a settlement. The sum of our accrued asbestos-related liability and gross payments to date, including legal costs, by us and our insurers totaled approximately \$446 million through June 30, 2014 and \$432 million through December 31, 2013.

A summary of recent approximate asbestos claims activity follows. Because claims are often filed and disposed of by dismissal or settlement in large numbers, the amount and timing of settlements and the number of open claims during a particular period can fluctuate significantly.

|                                     | Six Months<br>Ended | Year Ended        |   |
|-------------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------|---|
| (Dollars in millions)               | June 30, 2014       | December 31, 2013 |   |
| Pending claims, beginning of period | 74,000              | 73,200            |   |
| New claims filed                    | 1,000               | 2,600             |   |
| Claims settled/dismissed            | (1,100              | ) (1,800          | ) |
| Pending claims, end of period       | 73,900              | 74,000            |   |
| Payments (1)                        | \$10                | \$19              |   |
|                                     |                     |                   |   |

<sup>(1)</sup> Represents cash payments made during the period by us and our insurers on asbestos litigation defense and claim resolution.

We periodically, and at least annually, review our existing reserves for pending claims, including a reasonable estimate of the liability associated with unasserted asbestos claims, and estimate our receivables from probable insurance recoveries. We had recorded gross liabilities for both asserted and unasserted claims, inclusive of defense

costs, totaling \$149 million and \$145 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

- 19-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

We recorded a receivable related to asbestos claims of \$70 million and \$75 million as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. We expect that approximately 50% of asbestos claim related losses will be recoverable through insurance during the ten-year period covered by the estimated liability. Of these amounts, \$11 million were included in Current Assets as part of Accounts Receivable at both June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013. The recorded receivable consists of an amount we expect to collect under coverage-in-place agreements with certain primary carriers as well as an amount we believe is probable of recovery from certain of our excess coverage insurance carriers.

We believe that, at June 30, 2014, we had approximately \$160 million in limits of excess level policies potentially applicable to indemnity and defense costs for asbestos products claims. We also had coverage under certain primary policies for indemnity and defense costs for asbestos products claims under remaining aggregate limits, as well as coverage for indemnity and defense costs for asbestos premises claims on a per occurrence basis pursuant to a coverage-in-place agreement.

With respect to both asserted and unasserted claims, it is reasonably possible that we may incur a material amount of cost in excess of the current reserve; however, such amounts cannot be reasonably estimated. Coverage under insurance policies is subject to varying characteristics of asbestos claims including, but not limited to, the type of claim (premise vs. product exposure), alleged date of first exposure to our products or premises and disease alleged. Depending upon the nature of these characteristics, as well as the resolution of certain legal issues, some portion of the insurance may not be accessible by us.

Brazilian Indirect Tax Assessments

In September 2011, the State of Sao Paulo, Brazil issued an assessment to us for allegedly improperly taking tax credits for value-added taxes paid to a supplier of natural rubber during the period from January 2006 to August 2008. The assessment, including interest and penalties, totals 92 million Brazilian real (approximately \$42 million). We have filed a response contesting this assessment and are defending the matter. In the event we are unsuccessful in defending the assessment, our results of operations could be materially affected.

Greek Labor Cases

Approximately 320 former employees of a factory in Thessaloniki, Greece that was closed in 1996 sued Goodyear Dunlop Tires Hellas S.A.I.C. ("Goodyear Dunlop Greece") seeking compensation in arrears alleging the absence of consultation prior to the closure under applicable European law. The Greek courts have issued judgments affirming Goodyear Dunlop Greece's liability to pay salaries in arrears (less incomes earned in other capacities) with respect to the 5-1/2 year period following the plant closure and permitting a reduction in the amount of that liability to the extent of severance payments previously paid to the former employees. Goodyear Dunlop Greece's remaining liability with respect to these judgments is currently estimated to be up to approximately €37 million (\$51 million), which includes salaries in arrears, interest and related payroll taxes. In addition, Goodyear Dunlop Greece may be required to pay social security contributions up to €26 million (\$36 million) related to any salaries in arrears it must ultimately pay. In March 2013, the former employees filed a separate claim for severance payments totaling approximately €12 million (\$17 million). Goodyear Dunlop Greece is vigorously defending these cases, the ultimate outcome of which cannot be predicted at this time. We do not expect the outcome of this matter to materially affect our future results of operations. Other Actions

We are currently a party to various claims, indirect tax assessments and legal proceedings in addition to those noted above. If management believes that a loss arising from these matters is probable and can reasonably be estimated, we record the amount of the loss, or the minimum estimated liability when the loss is estimated using a range, and no point within the range is more probable than another. As additional information becomes available, any potential liability related to these matters is assessed and the estimates are revised, if necessary. Based on currently available information, management believes that the ultimate outcome of these matters, individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position or overall trends in results of operations.

Our recorded liabilities and estimates of reasonably possible losses for the contingent liabilities described above are based on our assessment of potential liability using the information available to us at the time and, where applicable, any past experience and recent and current trends with respect to similar matters. Our contingent liabilities are subject to inherent uncertainties, and unfavorable judicial or administrative decisions could occur which we did not anticipate. Such an unfavorable decision could include monetary damages, fines or other penalties or an injunction prohibiting us from taking certain actions or selling certain products. If such an unfavorable decision were to occur, it could result in a material adverse impact on our financial position and results of operations in the period in which the decision occurs, or in future periods.

### Income Tax Matters

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations. We recognize liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on our estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due.

- 20-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

If we ultimately determine that payment of these amounts is unnecessary, we reverse the liability and recognize a tax benefit during the period in which we determine that the liability is no longer necessary. We also recognize income tax benefits to the extent that it is more likely than not that our positions will be sustained when challenged by the taxing authorities. We derecognize income tax benefits when based on new information we determine that it is no longer more likely than not that our position will be sustained. To the extent we prevail in matters for which liabilities have been established, or determine we need to derecognize tax benefits recorded in prior periods, our results of operations and effective tax rate in a given period could be materially affected. An unfavorable tax settlement would require use of our cash, and lead to recognition of expense to the extent the settlement amount exceeds recorded liabilities and, in the case of an income tax settlement, result in an increase in our effective tax rate in the period of resolution. A favorable tax settlement would be recognized as a reduction of expense to the extent the settlement are of used liabilities and, in the case of an income tax settlement, would result in a reduction in our effective tax rate in the period of resolution.

While the Company applies consistent transfer pricing policies and practices globally, supports transfer prices through economic studies, seeks advance pricing agreements and joint audits to the extent possible and believes its transfer prices to be appropriate, such transfer prices, and related interpretations of tax laws, are occasionally challenged by various taxing authorities globally. We have received various tax assessments challenging our interpretations of applicable tax laws in various jurisdictions. Although we believe we have complied with applicable tax laws, have strong positions and defenses and have historically been successful in defending such claims, our results of operations could be materially adversely affected in the case we are unsuccessful in the defense of existing or future claims. Guarantees

We have off-balance sheet financial guarantees and other commitments totaling approximately \$11 million at June 30, 2014, compared to \$14 million at December 31, 2013. We issue guarantees to financial institutions or other entities on behalf of certain of our affiliates, lessors or customers. Normally there is no separate premium received by us as consideration for the issuance of guarantees. We also generally do not require collateral in connection with the issuance of these guarantees. If our performance under these guarantees is triggered by non-payment or another specified event, we would be obligated to make payment to the financial institution or the other entity, and would typically have recourse to the affiliate, lessor or customer. The guarantees expire at various times through 2023. We are unable to estimate the extent to which our affiliates', lessors' or customers' assets would be adequate to recover any payments made by us under the related guarantees.

#### NOTE 12. CAPITAL STOCK

#### Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock

On April 1, 2014, all outstanding shares of mandatory convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 27,573,735 shares of common stock, net of fractional shares, at a conversion rate of 2.7574 shares of common stock per share of preferred stock.

Dividends

In the first six months of 2014, we paid cash dividends of \$15 million on our mandatory convertible preferred stock. No further dividends will be paid on our preferred stock following the conversion into shares of common stock on April 1, 2014.

In the first six months of 2014, we paid cash dividends of \$26 million on our common stock. On July 14, 2014, the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof) declared cash dividends of \$0.06 per share of common stock, or approximately \$17 million in the aggregate. The dividend will be paid on September 2, 2014 to stockholders of record as of the close of business of August 1, 2014. Future quarterly dividends are subject to Board approval. Common Stock Repurchases

On September 18, 2013, the Board of Directors authorized \$100 million for use in our common stock repurchase program. On May 27, 2014, the Board of Directors approved an increase in that authorization to \$450 million. This

program expires on December 31, 2016. We intend to repurchase shares of common stock in open market transactions in order to offset new shares issued under equity compensation programs and to provide for additional shareholder returns. During the second quarter of 2014, we repurchased 1,150,000 shares at an average price, including commissions, of \$26.56 per share, or \$31 million in the aggregate. During the first six months of 2014, we repurchased 2,000,000 shares at an average price, including commissions, of \$26.80 per share, or \$54 million in the aggregate.

In addition, we routinely repurchase shares delivered to us by employees as payment for the exercise price of stock options and the withholding taxes due upon the exercise of the stock options or the vesting or payment of stock awards. During the second

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

quarter of 2014, we repurchased 84,961 shares at an average price of \$26.28 per share, or \$2 million in the aggregate. During the first six months of 2014, we repurchased 422,249 shares at an average price of \$26.82 per share, or \$11 million in the aggregate.

#### NOTE 13. CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

The following tables present the changes in shareholders' equity for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013: June 30, 2014

|  | June 30, 2014                      | 4  |                                 | June 30, 2013                       | 3   |                                  |
|--|------------------------------------|--|---------------------------------|-------------------------------------|---|----------------------------------|
| (In millions)  | Goodyear<br>Shareholders<br>Equity | Minority<br>, Shareholders'<br>Equity –<br>Nonredeemable | Total<br>Shareholders<br>Equity | Goodyear<br>'Shareholders<br>Equity | Minority<br>,Shareholders'<br>Equity –<br>Nonredeemable | Total<br>Shareholders'<br>Equity |
| Balance at beginning of period   | \$1,606                            | \$ 262   | \$1,868                         | \$370                               | \$ 255  | \$625                            |
| Comprehensive income:<br>Net income  | 162                                | 13   | 175                             | 221                                 | 16  | 237                              |
| Foreign currency translation<br>(net of tax of $0$ in 2014 and $0$ in 2012)  | 15                                 | 2  | 17                              | (132)                               | (15)  | (147)                            |
| \$0 in 2013)<br>Reclassification adjustment<br>for amounts recognized in<br>income (net of tax of \$0 in<br>2014 and \$0 in 2013)<br>Amortization of prior service | (2))                               | _  | (2)                             | 1                                   |   | 1                                |
| cost and unrecognized gains<br>and losses included in total<br>benefit cost (net of tax of \$3<br>in 2014 and \$7 in 2013)   | 55                                 |  | 55                              | 116                                 | —   | 116                              |
| Decrease (increase) in net<br>actuarial losses (net of tax of<br>\$3 in 2014 and \$2 in 2013)<br>Immediate recognition of  | 12                                 | _  | 12                              | 122                                 | _   | 122                              |
| prior service cost and<br>unrecognized gains and losses<br>due to curtailments,<br>settlements, and divestitures<br>(net of tax of \$0 in 2014 and<br>\$0 in 2013) | s<br>38                            |  | 38                              | 1                                   |   | 1                                |
| Deferred derivative gains<br>(losses) (net of tax of \$(1) in<br>2014 and \$1 in 2013)   | (1)                                | _  | (1)                             | 5                                   |   | 5                                |
| Reclassification adjustment<br>for amounts recognized in<br>income (net of tax of \$0 in<br>2014 and \$1 in 2013)  | _                                  | _  |                                 | 1                                   | _   | 1                                |
| Unrealized investment gains<br>(losses) (net of tax of \$0 in  | 1                                  | —  | 1                               | 15                                  |   | 15                               |

| 2014 and \$0 in 2013)         |             |        |   |         |   |         |   |        |   |                   |   |
|-------------------------------|-------------|--------|---|---------|---|---------|---|--------|---|-------------------|---|
| Other comprehensive income    | 118         | 2      |   | 120     |   | 129     |   | (15    | ) | 114               |   |
| (loss)                        | 110         |        |   | 120     |   |         |   | (15    | ) | 117               |   |
| Total comprehensive income    | 280         | 15     |   | 295     |   | 350     |   | 1      |   | 351               |   |
| Purchase of subsidiary shares | (5          | ) (18  | ) | (23     | ) | (2      | ) | (2     | ) | (4                | ) |
| from minority interest        | (5          | ) (10  | ) | (20     | ) | (-      | ) | (-     | ) | (.                | , |
| Dividends declared to         |             | (15    | ) | (15     | ) |         |   | (7     | ) | (7                | ) |
| minority shareholders         |             | (10    | , | (10     | , |         |   | ()     | , | ()                | , |
| Stock-based compensation      | 11          |        |   | 11      |   | 7       |   |        |   | 7                 |   |
| plans (Note 10)               |             |        |   |         |   |         |   |        |   |                   |   |
| Repurchase of common stock    | (65         | ) —    |   | (65     | ) | _       |   |        |   |                   |   |
| (Note 12)                     | ,<br>,<br>, | ,<br>, |   |         | Ś | <i></i> |   |        |   |                   |   |
| Dividends declared (Note 12)  | (33         | ) —    |   | (33     | ) | (15     | ) | _      |   | (15               | ) |
| Common stock issued from      | 31          |        |   | 31      |   | 5       |   |        |   | 5                 |   |
| treasury                      |             |        |   |         |   |         |   |        | , | <i>(</i> <b>)</b> |   |
| Other                         |             |        |   |         |   |         |   | (4     | ) | (4                | ) |
| Balance at end of period      | \$1,825     | \$ 244 |   | \$2,069 |   | \$715   |   | \$ 243 |   | \$958             |   |
|                               |             |        |   |         |   |         |   |        |   |                   |   |

- 22-

| The fellewine table messant  | a ahan asa in Minani | ter Earriter anno an tad | autaida of Chanabaldana' Eau |      |
|------------------------------|----------------------|--------------------------|------------------------------|------|
| The following table presents | s changes in Minori  | ly Equily presented      | outside of Shareholders' Equ | ity: |

|  | Three Months<br>June 30, | Ended | Six Months En<br>June 30, | nded  |   |
|--|--------------------------|-------|---------------------------|-------|---|
| (In millions)  | 2014                     | 2013  | 2014                      | 2013  |   |
| Balance at beginning of period   | \$600                    | \$515 | \$577                     | \$534 |   |
| Comprehensive income (loss):   |                          |       |                           |       |   |
| Net income (loss)  | 13                       | (5)   | 19                        | (13   | ) |
| Foreign currency translation, net of tax of \$0 and \$0 in 2014 (\$0 and \$0 in 2013)  | (3)                      | 7     | (2)                       | (8    | ) |
| Amortization of prior service cost and unrecognized gains and losses included in total benefit cost, net of tax of \$0 and \$0 in 2014 (\$0 and \$0 in 2013)                                       | 1                        | 2     | 2                         | 4     |   |
| Decrease (increase) in net actuarial losses, net of tax of \$0 and \$0 in 2014 (\$0 and \$0 in 2013)   | 1                        | 1     | 12                        | 2     |   |
| Immediate recognition of prior service cost and<br>unrecognized gains and losses due to curtailments,<br>settlements, and divestitures, net of tax of \$0 and \$0 in<br>2014 (\$0 and \$0 in 2013) | _                        |       | 4                         | —     |   |
| Deferred derivative gains (losses), net of tax of \$0 and \$ in 2014 (\$0 and \$0 in 2013)   | 0                        |       |                           | 1     |   |
| Reclassification adjustment for amounts recognized in income, net of tax of \$0 and \$0 in 2014 (\$0 and \$0 in 2013)  | 1                        | _     | 1                         | _     |   |
| Other comprehensive income (loss)  | _                        | 10    | 17                        | (1    | ) |
| Total comprehensive income (loss)  | 13                       | 5     | 36                        | (14   | ) |
| Balance at end of period   | \$613                    | \$520 | \$613                     | \$520 |   |

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

#### NOTE 14. RECLASSIFICATIONS OUT OF ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The following table presents changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (AOCL), by component, for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013:

| (In millions) Income (Loss)  | Foreign<br>Currency<br>Translation<br>Adjustment |   | Unrecognized<br>Net Actuarial<br>Losses and Price<br>Service Costs | or | Deferred<br>Derivative<br>Gains (Losses) | ) | Unrealized<br>Investment<br>Gains | Total    |   |
|--|--|---|--|----|--|---|-----------------------------------|----------|---|
| Balance at December 31, 2013   | \$(690   | ) | \$(3,290   | )  | \$(1                                     | ) | \$34                              | \$(3,947 | ) |
| Other comprehensive income<br>(loss) before reclassifications<br>Amounts reclassified from |  |   | 12   |    | (1                                       | ) | 1                                 | 27       |   |
| accumulated other<br>comprehensive loss  | (2   | ) | 93   |    | _  |   | _                                 | 91       |   |
| Purchase of subsidiary shares from minority interest                                       | (1   | ) | _  |    | _  |   | _                                 | (1       | ) |
| Balance at June 30, 2014   | \$(678   | ) | \$(3,185   | )  | \$(2                                     | ) | \$35                              | \$(3,830 | ) |
|  | Foreign<br>Currency<br>Translation<br>Adjustment |   | Unrecognized<br>Net Actuarial<br>Losses and Price<br>Service Costs | or | Deferred<br>Derivative<br>Gains (Losses) | 1 | Unrealized<br>Investment<br>Gains | Total    |   |
| Balance at December 31, 2012   | \$(538   | ) | \$(4,044   | )  | \$(4                                     | ) | \$26                              | \$(4,560 | ) |
| Other comprehensive income<br>(loss) before reclassifications<br>Amounts reclassified from | (14)   | ) | 122  |    | 5  |   | 15                                | 10       |   |
| accumulated other  | 1  |   | 117  |    | 1  |   | _                                 | 119      |   |
| comprehensive loss   |  |   |  |    |  |   |                                   |          |   |

- 24-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

| The following table presents reclas  |                   | lon | ut of Accu<br>ths Endec |   | ilated Oth<br>Six Mor<br>June 30, | th | ·                | ensi | ve Loss:  |
|--|-------------------|-----|-------------------------|---|-----------------------------------|----|------------------|------|---|
| (In millions) (Income) Expense   | 2014              | ,   | 2013                    |   | 2014                              |    | 2013             |      |   |
| Component of AOCL  | Amount<br>from AC |     | eclassified<br>L        | 1 | Amount<br>from AC                 |    | eclassified<br>L |      | Affected Line Item in the<br>Consolidated Statements of<br>Operations |
| Foreign Currency Translation<br>Adjustment, before tax   | \$(2              | )   | \$—                     |   | \$(2                              | )  | \$1              |      | Other (Income) Expense  |
| Tax effect   |                   |     |                         |   | _                                 |    |                  |      | United States and Foreign<br>Taxes                                    |
| Minority interest  | —                 |     |                         |   | —                                 |    |                  |      | Minority Shareholders' Net<br>Income                                  |
| Net of tax   | \$(2              | )   | \$—                     |   | \$(2                              | )  | \$1              |      | Goodyear Net Income   |
| Amortization of prior service cost<br>and unrecognized gains and<br>losses<br>Immediate recognition of prior | \$26              |     | \$62                    |   | \$60                              |    | \$127            |      | Total Benefit Cost  |
| service cost and unrecognized<br>gains and losses due to<br>curtailments, settlements, and<br>divestitures   | _                 |     | 1                       |   | 42                                |    | 1                |      | Total Benefit Cost  |
| Unrecognized Net Actuarial<br>Losses and Prior Service Costs,<br>before tax                                  | \$26              |     | \$63                    |   | \$102                             |    | \$128            |      |   |
| Tax effect   | (1                | )   | (3                      | ) | (3                                | )  | (7               | )    | United States and Foreign<br>Taxes                                    |
| Minority interest  | (1                | )   | (2                      | ) | (6                                | )  | (4               | )    | Minority Shareholders' Net<br>Income                                  |
| Net of tax   | \$24              |     | \$58                    |   | \$93                              |    | \$117            |      | Goodyear Net Income   |
| Deferred Derivative (Gains)<br>Losses, before tax  | \$—               |     | \$2                     |   | \$1                               |    | \$2              |      | Cost of Goods Sold  |
| Tax effect   | —                 |     | (1                      | ) | —                                 |    | (1               | )    | United States and Foreign<br>Taxes                                    |
| Minority interest  | (1                | )   |                         |   | (1                                | )  | _                |      | Minority Shareholders' Net<br>Income                                  |
| Net of tax   | \$(1              | )   | \$1                     |   | \$—                               |    | \$1              |      | Goodyear Net Income   |
| Total reclassifications  | \$21              |     | \$59                    |   | \$91                              |    | \$119            |      | Goodyear Net Income   |

Amortization of prior service cost and unrecognized gains and losses and immediate recognition of prior service cost and unrecognized gains and losses due to curtailments, settlements, and divestitures are included in the computation of total benefit cost. For further information, refer to Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements No. 9, Pension, Savings and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans in this Form 10-Q and No. 16, Pension, Other Postretirement Benefits

and Savings Plans, in our 2013 Form 10-K.

- 25-

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

#### NOTE 15. CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Certain of our subsidiaries have guaranteed our obligations under the \$1.0 billion outstanding principal amount of 8.25% senior notes due 2020, the \$282 million outstanding principal amount of 8.75% notes due 2020, the \$900 million outstanding principal amount of 6.5% senior notes due 2021, and the \$700 million outstanding principal amount of 7% senior notes due 2022 (collectively, the "notes"). The following presents the condensed consolidating financial information separately for:

(i) The Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company (the "Parent Company"), the issuer of the guaranteed obligations;

(ii) Guarantor Subsidiaries, on a combined basis, as specified in the indentures related to Goodyear's obligations under the notes;

(iii) Non-guarantor Subsidiaries, on a combined basis;

Consolidating entries and eliminations representing adjustments to (a) eliminate intercompany transactions

(iv) between the Parent Company, the Guarantor Subsidiaries and the Non-guarantor Subsidiaries, (b) eliminate the investments in our subsidiaries, and (c) record consolidating entries; and

(v) The Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company and Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

Each guarantor subsidiary is 100% owned by the Parent Company at the date of each balance sheet presented. The notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis by each guarantor subsidiary. The guarantees of the guarantor subsidiaries are subject to release in limited circumstances only upon the occurrence of certain customary conditions. Each entity in the consolidating financial information follows the same accounting policies as described in the consolidated financial statements, except for the use by the Parent Company and guarantor subsidiaries of the equity method of accounting to reflect ownership interests in subsidiaries which are eliminated upon consolidation. Changes in intercompany receivables and payables related to operations, such as intercompany sales or service charges, are included in cash flows from operating activities. Intercompany transactions reported as investing or financing activities include the sale of the capital stock of various subsidiaries, loans and other capital transactions between members of the consolidated group.

Certain non-guarantor subsidiaries of the Parent Company are limited in their ability to remit funds to it by means of dividends, advances or loans due to required foreign government and/or currency exchange board approvals or limitations in credit agreements or other debt instruments of those subsidiaries.

- 26-

|  | Condensed<br>June 30, 20 | -                         | Balance Sheet                 | ~  |              |
|--|--------------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------------|--|--------------|
| (In millions)                              | Parent<br>Company        | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries | Non-Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries | Consolidating<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations | Consolidated |
| Assets:                                    |                          |                           |                               |  |              |
| Current Assets:                            |                          |                           |                               |  |              |
| Cash and Cash Equivalents                  | \$326                    | \$77                      | \$ 1,234                      | \$—  | \$1,637      |
| Accounts Receivable                        | 856                      | 206                       | 1,779                         |  | 2,841        |
| Accounts Receivable From Affiliates        |                          | 774                       | _                             | (774)  |              |
| Inventories                                | 1,336                    | 171                       | 1,677                         | (54)   | 3,130        |
| Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets  | 86                       | 10                        | 328                           | 6  | 430          |
| Total Current Assets                       | 2,604                    | 1,238                     | 5,018                         | (822)  | 8,038        |
| Goodwill                                   |                          | 24                        | 515                           | 124  | 663          |
| Intangible Assets                          | 110                      | 1                         | 26                            |  | 137          |
| Deferred Income Taxes                      | —                        | 21                        | 100                           | 10   | 131          |
| Other Assets                               | 282                      | 103                       | 263                           |  | 648          |
| Investments in Subsidiaries                | 4,426                    | 403                       | —                             | (4,829)                                      | —            |
| Property, Plant and Equipment              | 2,236                    | 134                       | 4,982                         | (27)   | 7,325        |
| Total Assets                               | \$9,658                  | \$1,924                   | \$ 10,904                     | \$(5,544)                                    | \$16,942     |
| Liabilities:                               |                          |                           |                               |  |              |
| Current Liabilities:                       |                          |                           |                               |  |              |
| Accounts Payable-Trade                     | \$896                    | \$214                     | \$ 1,987                      | \$—  | \$3,097      |
| Accounts Payable to Affiliates             | 592                      |                           | 182                           | (774)  |              |
| Compensation and Benefits                  | 356                      | 33                        | 374                           |  | 763          |
| Other Current Liabilities                  | 310                      | 38                        | 736                           | (4)  | 1,080        |
| Notes Payable and Overdrafts               |                          |                           | 7                             |  | 7            |
| Long Term Debt and Capital Leases Due      | 7                        |                           | 71                            |  | 70           |
| Within One Year                            | 7                        |                           | 71                            | _  | 78           |
| Total Current Liabilities                  | 2,161                    | 285                       | 3,357                         | (778)  | 5,025        |
| Long Term Debt and Capital Leases          | 4,376                    |                           | 2,301                         |  | 6,677        |
| Compensation and Benefits                  | 486                      | 121                       | 762                           |  | 1,369        |
| Deferred and Other Noncurrent Income Taxes | s 66                     | 9                         | 188                           | (8)  | 255          |
| Other Long Term Liabilities                | 744                      | 31                        | 159                           |  | 934          |
| Total Liabilities                          | 7,833                    | 446                       | 6,767                         | (786)  | 14,260       |
| Commitments and Contingent Liabilities     | ,                        |                           | ,                             | ,  | ,            |
| Minority Shareholders' Equity              | _                        |                           | 399                           | 214  | 613          |
| Shareholders' Equity:                      |                          |                           |                               |  |              |
| Goodyear Shareholders' Equity:             |                          |                           |                               |  |              |
| Common Stock                               | 275                      |                           |                               |  | 275          |
| Other Equity                               | 1,550                    | 1,478                     | 3,494                         | (4,972)                                      | 1,550        |
| Goodyear Shareholders' Equity              | 1,825                    | 1,478                     | 3,494                         | (4,972)                                      | 1,825        |
| Minority Shareholders' Equity — Nonredeem  |                          |                           | 244                           |  | 244          |
| Total Shareholders' Equity                 | 1,825                    | 1,478                     | 3,738                         | (4,972)                                      | 2,069        |
| Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity | \$9,658                  | \$1,924                   | \$ 10,904                     | \$(5,544)                                    | \$16,942     |
|  |                          |                           |                               | - (-, )                                      |              |

|   | Condensed<br>December 3 | -                         | Balance Sheet                 |   |          |              |
|---|-------------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------------|---|----------|--------------|
| (In millions)                               | Parent<br>Company       | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries | Non-Guaranton<br>Subsidiaries | Consolidation<br>Entries and<br>Elimination |          | Consolidated |
| Assets:                                     |                         |                           |                               |   |          |              |
| Current Assets:                             |                         |                           |                               |   |          |              |
| Cash and Cash Equivalents                   | \$1,269                 | \$ 94                     | \$ 1,633                      | \$ <i>—</i>                                 |          | \$2,996      |
| Accounts Receivable                         | 872                     | 203                       | 1,360                         |   |          | 2,435        |
| Accounts Receivable From Affiliates         |                         | 733                       |                               | (733  | )        |              |
| Inventories                                 | 1,099                   | 155                       | 1,599                         | (37   | )        | 2,816        |
| Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets   | 68                      | 10                        | 315                           | 4   |          | 397          |
| Total Current Assets                        | 3,308                   | 1,195                     | 4,907                         | (766  | )        | 8,644        |
| Goodwill                                    |                         | 24                        | 517                           | 127   |          | 668          |
| Intangible Assets                           | 111                     |                           | 27                            |   |          | 138          |
| Deferred Income Taxes                       |                         | 24                        | 121                           | 12  |          | 157          |
| Other Assets                                | 288                     | 101                       | 211                           |   |          | 600          |
| Investments in Subsidiaries                 | 4,325                   | 386                       | _                             | (4,711                                      | )        |              |
| Property, Plant and Equipment               | 2,242                   | 140                       | 4,964                         | (26   | )        | 7,320        |
| Total Assets                                | \$10,274                | \$ 1,870                  | \$ 10,747                     | \$ (5,364                                   | )        | \$17,527     |
| Liabilities:                                |                         |                           |                               |   | <i>.</i> |              |
| Current Liabilities:                        |                         |                           |                               |   |          |              |
| Accounts Payable-Trade                      | \$833                   | \$210                     | \$ 2,054                      | \$ <i>—</i>                                 |          | \$3,097      |
| Accounts Payable to Affiliates              | 275                     |                           | 458                           | (733  | )        |              |
| Compensation and Benefits                   | 373                     | 33                        | 352                           |   | <i>,</i> | 758          |
| Other Current Liabilities                   | 347                     | 34                        | 713                           | (11   | )        | 1,083        |
| Notes Payable and Overdrafts                |                         |                           | 14                            |   | <i>_</i> | 14           |
| Long Term Debt and Capital Leases Due Withi | n                       |                           | ~ <b>-</b>                    |   |          |              |
| One Year                                    | 8                       | —                         | 65                            |   |          | 73           |
| Total Current Liabilities                   | 1,836                   | 277                       | 3,656                         | (744  | )        | 5,025        |
| Long Term Debt and Capital Leases           | 4,377                   |                           | 1,785                         |   | <i>_</i> | 6,162        |
| Compensation and Benefits                   | 1,613                   | 129                       | 931                           |   |          | 2,673        |
| Deferred and Other Noncurrent Income Taxes  | 65                      | 11                        | 188                           | (8  | )        | 256          |
| Other Long Term Liabilities                 | 777                     | 32                        | 157                           |   | <i>.</i> | 966          |
| Total Liabilities                           | 8,668                   | 449                       | 6,717                         | (752  | )        | 15,082       |
| Commitments and Contingent Liabilities      |                         |                           | ,                             | × ·   | <i>_</i> |              |
| Minority Shareholders' Equity               |                         |                           | 361                           | 216   |          | 577          |
| Shareholders' Equity:                       |                         |                           |                               |   |          |              |
| Goodyear Shareholders' Equity:              |                         |                           |                               |   |          |              |
| Preferred Stock                             | 500                     |                           |                               |   |          | 500          |
| Common Stock                                | 248                     |                           |                               |   |          | 248          |
| Other Equity                                | 858                     | 1,421                     | 3,407                         | (4,828                                      | )        | 858          |
| Goodyear Shareholders' Equity               | 1,606                   | 1,421                     | 3,407                         | (4,828                                      | )        | 1,606        |
| Minority Shareholders' Equity - Nonredeema  | -                       |                           | 262                           |   |          | 262          |
| Total Shareholders' Equity                  | 1,606                   | 1,421                     | 3,669                         | (4,828                                      | )        | 1,868        |
| Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity  | \$10,274                | \$1,870                   | \$ 10,747                     | \$(5,364                                    | )        | \$17,527     |
| · ·   |                         |                           |                               |   |          |              |

| Consolidating Statements of Operations |
|--|
| Three Months Ended June 30, 2014       |

| (In millions)  | Parent<br>Company   | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries   | Non-Guaranton<br>Subsidiaries   | Entries and  | Consolidated   |
|--|---|---|---|--|--|
| Net Sales  | \$1,000   | \$ 652  | \$ 7961   | Eliminations   |  |
| Cost of Goods Sold   | \$1,990<br>1,620  | \$ 653<br>582   | \$ 2,864<br>2 210   | \$ (851<br>(880  | ) \$4,656<br>) 3,532   |
|  | 227   | 43  | 2,210<br>430  |  | ) 698  |
| Selling, Administrative and General Expense  | 221   | 45  |   | (2   | ·  |
| Rationalizations   | <u> </u>  | _   | 24  |  | 24   |
| Interest Expense   | 84  | 6   | 28  | ( -  | ) 102  |
| Other (Income) Expense   | (34)  | (5)   |   | 47   | 8  |
| Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity   | 93  | 27  | 172   |  | 292  |
| in Earnings of Subsidiaries  | -   | -   | 10  |  | (0)  |
| United States and Foreign Taxes  | 7   | 5   | 48  |  | 60   |
| Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries   | 127   | 10  |   | (137   | ) —  |
| Net Income (Loss)  | 213   | 32  | 124   | (137   | ) 232  |
| Less: Minority Shareholders' Net Income (Loss  |   |   | 19  |  | 19   |
| Goodyear Net Income (Loss)   | 213   | 32  | 105   | (137   | ) 213  |
| Goodyear Net Income (Loss) available to  | \$213   | \$ 32   | \$ 105  | \$(137   | ) \$213  |
| Common Shareholders  |   |   |   |  | ,<br>,   |
| Comprehensive Income (Loss)  | \$266   | \$ 37   | \$ 145  | \$(160   | ) \$288  |
| Less: Comprehensive Income (Loss)  |   |   | 24  | (2   | ) 22   |
| Attributable to Minority Shareholders  |   |   |   |  | ,<br>,   |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)   | \$266   | \$ 37   | \$ 121  | \$(158   | ) \$266  |
|  |   | -   | s of Operations   |  |  |
|  |   |   |   |  |  |
|  | Three Mon   | ths Ended Jui   | ne 30, 2013   |  |  |
|  |   |   |   | , Consolidatii   | •  |
| (In millions)  | Parent  | Guarantor   | Non-Guaranto  | Consolidatin<br>Entries and  | ng<br>Consolidated   |
| (In millions)  |   | Guarantor   |   | Consolidation<br>Entries and<br>Elimination  | Consolidated s   |
| (In millions)<br>Net Sales   | Parent  | Guarantor   | Non-Guaranto  | r Entries and<br>Elimination   | Consolidated   |
|  | Parent<br>Company   | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries   | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries  | r<br>Entries and<br>Elimination  | Consolidated s   |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense   | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072  | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677   | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244  | rEntries and<br>Elimination<br>\$(1,099  | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894   |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold  | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710   | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620  | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668   | <sup>r</sup> Entries and<br>Elimination<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152   | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846  |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense   | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239  | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43  | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413  | rEntries and<br>Elimination<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4   | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691   |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense   | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239<br>4<br>81<br>(82)   | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43<br>1   | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413<br>8   | rEntries and<br>Elimination<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4<br>   | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691<br>13   |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense   | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239<br>4<br>81<br>(82)   | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43<br>1<br>8<br>10  | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413<br>8<br>30<br>(9)  | r Entries and<br>Elimination:<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4<br>   | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691<br>13<br>) 102<br>(14 )   |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense   | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239<br>4<br>81<br>(82)   | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43<br>1<br>8  | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413<br>8<br>30   | r Entries and<br>Elimination:<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4<br>   | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691<br>13<br>) 102  |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity   | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239<br>4<br>81<br>(82)   | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43<br>1<br>8<br>10  | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413<br>8<br>30<br>(9)  | r Entries and<br>Elimination:<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4<br>   | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691<br>13<br>) 102<br>(14 )   |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>in Earnings of Subsidiaries  | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239<br>4<br>81<br>(82)<br>120  | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43<br>1<br>8<br>10<br>(5 )  | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413<br>8<br>30<br>(9)<br>134                                 | r Entries and<br>Elimination<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4<br>  | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691<br>13<br>) 102<br>(14 )<br>256  |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes   | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239<br>4<br>81<br>(82))<br>120<br>8                                    | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43<br>1<br>8<br>10<br>(5 )<br>2                                   | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413<br>8<br>30<br>(9)<br>134                                 | r Entries and<br>Elimination<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4<br><br>(17<br>67<br>7<br>2                               | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691<br>13<br>) 102<br>(14 )<br>256  |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes<br>Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries   | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239<br>4<br>81<br>(82))<br>120<br>8<br>76<br>188                       | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43<br>1<br>8<br>10<br>(5 )<br>2<br>(6 )                           | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413<br>8<br>30<br>(9)<br>134<br>51<br>—                      | r Entries and<br>Elimination:<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4<br>   | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691<br>13<br>) 102<br>(14 )<br>256<br>63<br>) —                           |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes<br>Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>Net Income (Loss)<br>Less: Minority Shareholders' Net Income (Loss   | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239<br>4<br>81<br>(82))<br>120<br>8<br>76<br>188                       | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43<br>1<br>8<br>10<br>(5 )<br>2<br>(6 )                           | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413<br>8<br>30<br>(9)<br>134<br>51<br>                       | r Entries and<br>Elimination:<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4<br>   | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691<br>13<br>) 102<br>(14<br>) 256<br>63<br>)<br>) 193<br>5               |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes<br>Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>Net Income (Loss)  | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239<br>4<br>81<br>(82))<br>120<br>8<br>76<br>188<br>) —                | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43<br>1<br>8<br>10<br>(5 )<br>2<br>(6 )<br>(13 )<br>-             | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413<br>8<br>30<br>(9)<br>134<br>51<br>                       | r Entries and<br>Elimination<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4<br>  | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691<br>13<br>) 102<br>(14 )<br>256<br>63<br>)<br>) 193                    |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes<br>Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>Net Income (Loss)<br>Less: Minority Shareholders' Net Income (Loss<br>Goodyear Net Income (Loss)<br>Less: Preferred Stock Dividends  | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239<br>4<br>81<br>(82 )<br>120<br>8<br>76<br>188<br>)<br>—<br>188<br>7 | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43<br>1<br>8<br>10<br>(5 )<br>2<br>(6 )<br>(13 )<br><br>(13 )<br> | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413<br>8<br>30<br>(9 )<br>134<br>51<br><br>83<br>5<br>78<br> | r Entries and<br>Elimination:<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4<br><br>(17<br>67<br>7<br>2<br>(70<br>(65<br><br>(65<br> | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691<br>13<br>) 102<br>(14<br>) 256<br>63<br>)<br>) 193<br>5<br>) 188<br>7 |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes<br>Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>Net Income (Loss)<br>Less: Minority Shareholders' Net Income (Loss<br>Goodyear Net Income (Loss)<br>Less: Preferred Stock Dividends<br>Goodyear Net Income (Loss) available to | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239<br>4<br>81<br>(82 )<br>120<br>8<br>76<br>188<br>) —<br>188         | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43<br>1<br>8<br>10<br>(5 )<br>2<br>(6 )<br>(13 )<br>-             | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413<br>8<br>30<br>(9)<br>134<br>51<br>                       | r Entries and<br>Elimination<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4<br>  | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691<br>13<br>) 102<br>(14 )<br>256<br>63<br>)<br>) 193<br>5<br>) 188      |
| Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes<br>Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>Net Income (Loss)<br>Less: Minority Shareholders' Net Income (Loss<br>Goodyear Net Income (Loss)<br>Less: Preferred Stock Dividends  | Parent<br>Company<br>\$2,072<br>1,710<br>239<br>4<br>81<br>(82 )<br>120<br>8<br>76<br>188<br>)<br>—<br>188<br>7 | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 677<br>620<br>43<br>1<br>8<br>10<br>(5 )<br>2<br>(6 )<br>(13 )<br><br>(13 )<br> | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 3,244<br>2,668<br>413<br>8<br>30<br>(9 )<br>134<br>51<br>                      | r Entries and<br>Elimination<br>\$ (1,099<br>(1,152<br>(4<br><br>(17<br>67<br>7<br>2<br>(70<br>(65<br><br>(65<br>  | Consolidated<br>s<br>) \$4,894<br>) 3,846<br>) 691<br>13<br>) 102<br>(14<br>) 256<br>63<br>)<br>) 193<br>5<br>) 188<br>7 |

| Edgar Filing: GOODY   | EAR TIRE | & RUBBE | R CO /OH/ - | Form | 10-Q  |         |
|---|----------|---------|-------------|------|-------|---------|
| Less: Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributa<br>to Minority Interest | ible     | _       | (1          | )    | 3     | 2       |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)                                | \$181    | \$3     | \$8         |      | \$(11 | ) \$181 |
| - 29-   |          |         |             |      |       |         |

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

#### Consolidating Statements of Operations Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

|  | S1x Months  | Ended June 3   | 30, 2014  |  |  |
|--|---|--|---|--|--|
|  | Parent  | Guarantor  | Non-Guaranto  | , Consolidatir   | ng   |
| (In millions)  | Company   |  | Subsidiaries  | <sup>1</sup> Entries and<br>Eliminations                                     | Consolidated   |
| Net Sales  | \$3,865   | \$ 1,254   | \$ 6,023  | \$(2,017   | \$9,125  |
| Cost of Goods Sold   | 3,178   | 1,130  | 4,792   | (2,050   | ) 7,050  |
| Selling, Administrative and General Expense  | 451   | 83   | 836   | (5   | ) 1,365  |
| Rationalizations   | (1)   |  | 66  |  | 65   |
| Interest Expense   | 166   | 13   | 59  | (31  | ) 207  |
| Other (Income) Expense   |   | (9)  | 138   | 93   | 176  |
| Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity   |   |  |   |  |  |
| in Earnings of Subsidiaries  | 117   | 37   | 132   | (24  | ) 262  |
| United States and Foreign Taxes  | 9   | 8  | 51  |  | 68   |
| Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries   | 54  | 16   |   | (70  | ) —  |
| Net Income (Loss)  | 162   | 45   | 81  | (94  | ) 194  |
| Less: Minority Shareholders' Net Income (Loss)   |   |  | 32  | <u> </u>   | 32   |
| Goodyear Net Income (Loss)   | 162   | 45   | 49  | (94  | ) 162  |
| Less: Preferred Stock Dividends  | 7   |  |   | <u> </u>   | 7  |
| Goodyear Net Income (Loss) available to  |   | *  | <b>*</b> 40   | <b>+</b> ( <b>0 +</b>  |  |
| Common Shareholders  | \$155   | \$45   | \$ 49   | \$ (94   | ) \$155  |
| Comprehensive Income (Loss)  | \$280   | \$ 62  | \$ 175  | \$(186   | ) \$331  |
| Less: Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable   | e   |  |   |  |  |
| to Minority Shareholders   |   |  | 53  | (2   | ) 51   |
| to winonty shareholders  |   |  |   |  |  |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)   | \$280   | \$ 62  | \$ 122  | \$(184   | ) \$280  |
| ÷  |   | •  | \$ 122<br>s of Operations   | \$(184   | ) \$280  |
| ÷  | Consolidat  | •  | s of Operations   | \$(184   | ) \$280  |
| ÷  | Consolidat<br>Six Month   | ing Statement<br>s Ended June  | s of Operations 30, 2013  |  |  |
| ÷  | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent  | ing Statement<br>S Ended June<br>Guarantor   | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto   |  |  |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)   | Consolidat<br>Six Month   | ing Statement<br>S Ended June<br>Guarantor   | s of Operations   |  | ig<br>Consolidated   |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)   | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent  | ing Statement<br>S Ended June<br>Guarantor   | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto   | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations                                  | ig<br>Consolidated   |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)  | Consolidat<br>Six Month<br>Parent<br>Company  | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries   | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries   | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations                                  | g<br>Consolidated  |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales   | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081  | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348   | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418   | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203           | ng<br>Consolidated<br>3<br>) \$9,747   |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold   | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445   | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208  | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336  | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203           | ng<br>Consolidated<br>) \$9,747<br>) 7,786   |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense  | Consolidat<br>Six Month<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445<br>454   | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208<br>84  | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336<br>803                                     | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203           | ng<br>Consolidated<br>5<br>) \$9,747<br>) 7,786<br>) 1,336   |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations  | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445<br>454<br>5<br>151  | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208<br>84<br>1   | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336<br>803<br>14                               | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203<br>(5     | 2<br>Consolidated<br>5<br>) \$ 9,747<br>) 7,786<br>) 1,336<br>20   |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense  | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445<br>454<br>5<br>151<br>(127)   | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208<br>84<br>1<br>15<br>4  | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336<br>803<br>14<br>54<br>98                   | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203<br>(5<br> | 2<br>Consolidated<br>3<br>) \$9,747<br>) 7,786<br>) 1,336<br>20<br>) 187<br>112  |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense  | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445<br>454<br>5<br>151<br>(127)   | ing Statement<br>Sended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208<br>84<br>1<br>15  | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336<br>803<br>14<br>54                         | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203<br>(5<br> | eg<br>Consolidated<br>) \$9,747<br>) 7,786<br>) 1,336<br>20<br>) 187   |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity  | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445<br>454<br>5<br>151<br>(127)   | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208<br>84<br>1<br>15<br>4  | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336<br>803<br>14<br>54<br>98                   | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203<br>(5<br> | 2<br>Consolidated<br>3<br>) \$9,747<br>) 7,786<br>) 1,336<br>20<br>) 187<br>112  |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>Earnings of Subsidiaries  | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445<br>454<br>5<br>151<br>(127)<br>in<br>153                                    | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208<br>84<br>1<br>15<br>4<br>36  | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336<br>803<br>14<br>54<br>98<br>113            | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203<br>(5<br> | 2<br>Consolidated<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3                                     |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes   | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445<br>454<br>5<br>151<br>(127)<br>in<br>153<br>7                               | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208<br>84<br>1<br>15<br>4<br>36<br>34<br>(10)                          | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336<br>803<br>14<br>54<br>98<br>113<br>59      | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203<br>(5<br> | 2<br>Consolidated<br>5<br>\$ 9,747<br>) 7,786<br>) 1,336<br>20<br>) 187<br>112<br>306<br>) 82                          |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes<br>Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries   | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445<br>454<br>5<br>151<br>(127)<br>in<br>153<br>7<br>75<br>221                  | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208<br>84<br>1<br>15<br>4<br>36<br>34                                  | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336<br>803<br>14<br>54<br>98<br>113<br>59<br>— | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203<br>(5<br> | eg<br>Consolidated<br>5<br>) \$ 9,747<br>) 7,786<br>) 1,336<br>20<br>) 187<br>112<br>306<br>) 82<br>) —                |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes<br>Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>Net Income (Loss)  | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445<br>454<br>5<br>151<br>(127)<br>in<br>153<br>7<br>75<br>221                  | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208<br>84<br>1<br>15<br>4<br>36<br>34<br>(10)                          | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336<br>803<br>14<br>54<br>98<br>113<br>59<br>  | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203<br>(5<br> | 20<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3  |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes<br>Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>Net Income (Loss)<br>Less: Minority Shareholders' Net Income (Loss)  | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445<br>454<br>5<br>151<br>(127)<br>in<br>153<br>7<br>75<br>221<br>—             | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208<br>84<br>1<br>15<br>4<br>36<br>34<br>(10)<br>(8)<br>-              | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336<br>803<br>14<br>54<br>98<br>113<br>59<br>  | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203<br>(5<br> | 20<br>Consolidated<br>3<br>) \$ 9,747<br>) 7,786<br>) 1,336<br>20<br>) 187<br>112<br>306<br>) 82<br>)<br>) 224<br>3    |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes<br>Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>Net Income (Loss)<br>Less: Minority Shareholders' Net Income (Loss)<br>Goodyear Net Income (Loss)                                    | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445<br>454<br>5<br>151<br>(127)<br>in<br>153<br>7<br>75<br>221<br><br>221<br>15 | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208<br>84<br>1<br>15<br>4<br>36<br>34<br>(10 )<br>(8 )<br><br>(8 )<br> | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336<br>803<br>14<br>54<br>98<br>113<br>59<br>  | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203<br>(5<br> | Pg<br>Consolidated<br>9 \$9,747<br>7,786<br>1,336<br>20<br>187<br>112<br>306<br>82<br><br>224<br>3<br>221<br>15        |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)<br>(In millions)<br>Net Sales<br>Cost of Goods Sold<br>Selling, Administrative and General Expense<br>Rationalizations<br>Interest Expense<br>Other (Income) Expense<br>Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Equity<br>Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>United States and Foreign Taxes<br>Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries<br>Net Income (Loss)<br>Less: Minority Shareholders' Net Income (Loss)<br>Goodyear Net Income (Loss)<br>Less: Preferred Stock Dividends | Consolidat<br>Six Months<br>Parent<br>Company<br>\$4,081<br>3,445<br>454<br>5<br>151<br>(127)<br>in<br>153<br>7<br>75<br>221<br>—<br>221      | ing Statement<br>s Ended June<br>Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 1,348<br>1,208<br>84<br>1<br>15<br>4<br>36<br>34<br>(10)<br>(8)<br>-              | s of Operations<br>30, 2013<br>Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries<br>\$ 6,418<br>5,336<br>803<br>14<br>54<br>98<br>113<br>59<br>  | Consolidatir<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations<br>\$ (2,100<br>(2,203<br>(5<br> | Pg<br>Consolidated<br>) \$9,747<br>) 7,786<br>) 1,336<br>20<br>) 187<br>112<br>306<br>) 82<br>)<br>) 224<br>3<br>) 221 |

| Edgar Filing: GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER CO /OH/ - Form 10-Q                |       |       |        |   |       |        |   |  |  |  |  |
|---|-------|-------|--------|---|-------|--------|---|--|--|--|--|
| Comprehensive Income (Loss)   | \$350 | \$ 16 | \$ (53 | ) | \$ 24 | \$ 337 |   |  |  |  |  |
| Less: Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to Minority Shareholders |       | _     | (10    | ) | (3    | ) (13  | ) |  |  |  |  |
| Goodyear Comprehensive Income (Loss)                                    | \$350 | \$ 16 | \$ (43 | ) | \$ 27 | \$ 350 |   |  |  |  |  |
| - 30-   |       |       |        |   |       |        |   |  |  |  |  |

#### THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

|  | Six Months Ended June 30, 2014 |   |                           |   |                               |   |   |   |              |    |  |
|--|--------------------------------|---|---------------------------|---|-------------------------------|---|---|---|--------------|----|--|
| (In millions)                                  |                                |   | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries |   | Non-Guaranton<br>Subsidiaries |   | r Consolidatin<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations |   | Consolidated |    |  |
| Cash Flows from Operating Activities:          |                                |   |                           |   |                               |   |   |   |              |    |  |
| Total Cash Flows from Operating Activities     | \$(1,112                       | ) | \$(15                     | ) | \$ 31                         |   | \$(38   | ) | \$(1,134     | )  |  |
| Cash Flows from Investing Activities:          |                                |   |                           |   |                               |   |   |   |              |    |  |
| Capital Expenditures                           | (148                           | ) | (9                        | ) | (286                          | ) | 2   |   | (441         | )  |  |
| Asset Dispositions                             | 2                              |   | 1                         |   | 2                             |   |   |   | 5            |    |  |
| Decrease (Increase) in Restricted Cash         |                                |   |                           |   | 3                             |   |   |   | 3            |    |  |
| Short Term Securities Acquired                 |                                |   |                           |   | (41                           | ) |   |   | (41          | )  |  |
| Short Term Securities Redeemed                 |                                |   |                           |   | 46                            |   |   |   | 46           |    |  |
| Capital Contributions and Loans Incurred       | (211                           | ) |                           |   | (452                          | ) | 663   |   |              |    |  |
| Capital Redemptions and Loans Paid             | 364                            |   |                           |   | 209                           |   | (573  | ) |              |    |  |
| Other Transactions                             | 1                              |   |                           |   | 6                             |   |   |   | 7            |    |  |
| Total Cash Flows from Investing Activities     | 8                              |   | (8                        | ) | (513                          | ) | 92  |   | (421         | )  |  |
| Cash Flows from Financing Activities:          |                                |   |                           |   |                               |   |   |   |              |    |  |
| Short Term Debt and Overdrafts Incurred        | 3                              |   | 6                         |   | 18                            |   | (9  | ) | 18           |    |  |
| Short Term Debt and Overdrafts Paid            | (6                             | ) |                           |   | (27                           | ) | 9   |   | (24          | )  |  |
| Long Term Debt Incurred                        | 401                            |   |                           |   | 913                           |   |   |   | 1,314        |    |  |
| Long Term Debt Paid                            | (405                           | ) |                           |   | (418                          | ) |   |   | (823         | )  |  |
| Common Stock Issued                            | 31                             |   |                           |   |                               |   |   |   | 31           |    |  |
| Common Stock Repurchased                       | (65                            | ) |                           |   | _                             |   |   |   | (65          | )  |  |
| Common Stock Dividends Paid                    | (26                            | ) |                           |   | _                             |   |   |   | (26          | )  |  |
| Preferred Stock Dividends Paid                 | (15                            | ) |                           |   | _                             |   |   |   | (15          | )  |  |
| Capital Contributions and Loans Incurred       | 452                            |   |                           |   | 211                           |   | (663  | ) |              |    |  |
| Capital Redemptions and Loans Paid             | (209                           | ) |                           |   | (364                          | ) | 573   |   |              |    |  |
| Intercompany Dividends Paid                    |                                |   |                           |   | (36                           | ) | 36  |   |              |    |  |
| Transactions with Minority Interests in        |                                |   |                           |   | (24                           | ) |   |   | (24          | )  |  |
| Subsidiaries                                   |                                |   |                           |   | (34                           | ) |   |   | (34          | )  |  |
| Total Cash Flows from Financing Activities     | 161                            |   | 6                         |   | 263                           |   | (54   | ) | 376          |    |  |
| Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and    |                                |   |                           |   | (100                          | ` |   |   | (100         | `` |  |
| Cash Equivalents                               |                                |   |                           |   | (180                          | ) |   |   | (180         | )  |  |
| Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents        | (943                           | ) | (17                       | ) | (399                          | ) |   |   | (1,359       | )  |  |
| Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the  | 1 260                          |   | 04                        |   | 1 (22                         |   |   |   | 2.006        |    |  |
| Period   | 1,269                          |   | 94                        |   | 1,633                         |   |   |   | 2,996        |    |  |
| Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Period | \$326                          |   | \$77                      |   | \$ 1,234                      |   | \$—   |   | \$1,637      |    |  |
| - 31-  |                                |   |                           |   |                               |   |   |   |              |    |  |

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

- 31-

|  | Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows<br>Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 |   |                           |   |                              |   |  |   |                   |   |
|--|---|---|---------------------------|---|------------------------------|---|--|---|-------------------|---|
| (In millions)                                  |   |   | Guarantor<br>Subsidiaries |   | Non-Guaranto<br>Subsidiaries |   | Consolidating<br>Entries and<br>Eliminations |   | g<br>Consolidated |   |
| Cash Flows from Operating Activities:          |   |   |                           |   |                              |   |  |   |                   |   |
| Total Cash Flows from Operating Activities     | \$(439  | ) | \$ (52                    | ) | \$ 39                        |   | \$(10  | ) | \$(462            | ) |
| Cash Flows from Investing Activities:          |   |   |                           |   |                              |   |  |   |                   |   |
| Capital Expenditures                           | (128  | ) | (9                        | ) | (360                         | ) | 4  |   | (493              | ) |
| Asset Dispositions                             | 2   |   |                           |   | 5                            |   |  |   | 7                 |   |
| Decrease (Increase) in Restricted Cash         |   |   |                           |   | (8                           | ) |  |   | (8                | ) |
| Short Term Securities Acquired                 |   |   |                           |   | (60                          | ) |  |   | (60               | ) |
| Short Term Securities Redeemed                 |   |   |                           |   | 48                           |   |  |   | 48                |   |
| Capital Contributions and Loans Incurred       | (61   | ) |                           |   | (170                         | ) | 231  |   |                   |   |
| Capital Redemptions and Loans Paid             | 214   |   |                           |   | 203                          |   | (417   | ) | _                 |   |
| Other Transactions                             |   |   |                           |   | 4                            |   |  |   | 4                 |   |
| Total Cash Flows from Investing Activities     | 27  |   | (9                        | ) | (338                         | ) | (182   | ) | (502              | ) |
| Cash Flows from Financing Activities:          |   |   |                           |   |                              |   |  |   |                   |   |
| Short Term Debt and Overdrafts Incurred        |   |   | 4                         |   | 96                           |   | (71  | ) | 29                |   |
| Short Term Debt and Overdrafts Paid            | (71   | ) |                           |   | (51                          | ) | 71   |   | (51               | ) |
| Long Term Debt Incurred                        | 900   |   |                           |   | 1,215                        |   | _  |   | 2,115             |   |
| Long Term Debt Paid                            | (7  | ) |                           |   | (632                         | ) |  |   | (639              | ) |
| Common Stock Issued                            | 5   |   |                           |   |                              |   | _  |   | 5                 |   |
| Preferred Stock Dividends Paid                 | (15   | ) |                           |   |                              |   |  |   | (15               | ) |
| Capital Contributions and Loans Incurred       | 170   |   | 58                        |   | 3                            |   | (231   | ) |                   |   |
| Capital Redemptions and Loans Paid             | (203  | ) |                           |   | (214                         | ) | 417  |   |                   |   |
| Intercompany Dividends Paid                    |   |   |                           |   | (6                           | ) | 6  |   |                   |   |
| Transactions with Minority Interests in        |   |   |                           |   | (0                           | ` |  |   | (0                | ` |
| Subsidiaries                                   |   |   |                           |   | (8                           | ) |  |   | (8                | ) |
| Debt Related Costs and Other Transactions      | (16   | ) |                           |   |                              |   |  |   | (16               | ) |
| Total Cash Flows from Financing Activities     | 763   |   | 62                        |   | 403                          |   | 192  |   | 1,420             |   |
| Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and    |   |   | ()                        | ` | (160                         | ` |  |   | (172              | ` |
| Cash Equivalents                               |   |   | (4                        | ) | (169                         | ) |  |   | (173              | ) |
| Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents        | 351   |   | (3                        | ) | (65                          | ) | _  |   | 283               |   |
| Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the  | 802   |   | 68                        |   | 1,411                        |   |  |   | 2,281             |   |
| Period   | 002   |   | 00                        |   | 1,411                        |   |  |   | 2,201             |   |
| Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Period | \$1,153   |   | \$ 65                     |   | \$ 1,346                     |   | \$—  |   | \$2,564           |   |

# ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

All per share amounts are diluted and refer to Goodyear net income available to common shareholders. OVERVIEW

The Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company is one of the world's leading manufacturers of tires, with one of the most recognizable brand names in the world and operations in most regions of the world. We have a broad global footprint with 50 manufacturing facilities in 22 countries, including the United States. We operate our business through four operating segments representing our regional tire businesses: North America; Europe, Middle East and Africa ("EMEA"); Latin America; and Asia Pacific.

In the second quarter of 2014, we continued to experience improving industry conditions in Europe and North America, while industry conditions in emerging markets remained challenging. Our total segment operating income increased 7.5% to \$460 million in the second quarter of 2014, including segment operating income of \$208 million in North America and \$117 million in EMEA. Tire unit shipments increased 2.7% compared to the second quarter of 2013, driven by strong consumer replacement volumes in all of our regions. In the second quarter of 2014, we realized approximately \$103 million of cost savings, including raw materials cost saving measures of approximately \$62 million, which exceeded the impact of general inflation and additional expenditures for advertising, marketing and research and development.

On May 29, 2014, we announced updates to our 2014-2016 capital allocation plan, which are intended to increase shareholder value by investing in high-return growth capital projects, providing for increased returns to shareholders and further strengthening our balance sheet. The updated capital allocation plan provides for:

Additional growth capital expenditures to enable us to build a new plant to serve our North American and Latin American consumer tire businesses and capitalize on the anticipated growth in high-value-added tire markets in the two regions.

Increasing the quarterly cash dividend on our common stock to \$0.06 per share beginning on September 2, 2014. Increasing the share repurchase program to \$450 million through 2016.

Allocating additional amounts towards debt repayments and pension funding, further strengthening our leverage metrics and advancing our objective of achieving an investment grade credit rating.

For further information regarding our 2014-2016 capital allocation plan, see "Liquidity and Capital Resources." In the first quarter of 2014, we closed one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France. We expect annualized cost savings of approximately \$75 million following closure of the Amiens facility and exit of the farm tire business. We realized savings of \$21 million in the first six months of 2014 and expect total savings of approximately \$40 million to \$50 million in 2014. We expect to finalize decisions regarding the timing of our exit from the remainder of the farm tire business in EMEA during 2014.

In the first quarter of 2014, we made contributions of \$1,167 million to fully fund our hourly U.S. pension plans and, in accordance with our master collective bargaining agreement with the United Steelworkers, the hourly U.S. pension plans were frozen to future accruals effective April 30, 2014.

Net sales in the second quarter of 2014 were \$4,656 million, compared to \$4,894 million in the second quarter of 2013. Net sales decreased in the second quarter of 2014 due to lower sales in other tire-related businesses, primarily third-party chemical sales in North America, a decline in price and product mix, primarily in EMEA, as a result of the impact of lower raw material costs on pricing, and unfavorable foreign currency translation, primarily in Latin America. Product mix was also negatively impacted by lower off-the-road ("OTR") tire sales. These decreases were partially offset by higher volume, primarily in EMEA and North America.

In the second quarter of 2014, Goodyear net income was \$213 million, compared to \$188 million in the second quarter of 2013. In the second quarter of 2014, Goodyear net income available to common shareholders was \$213 million, or \$0.76 per share, compared to \$181 million, or \$0.67 per share, in the second quarter of 2013. The increase in Goodyear net income in the second quarter of 2014 compared to the second quarter of 2013 was primarily driven by improved segment operating income.

Our total segment operating income for the second quarter of 2014 was \$460 million, compared to \$428 million in the second quarter of 2013. The \$32 million increase in segment operating income was due primarily to a decline in raw

material costs of \$120 million, which more than offset the effects of lower price and product mix of \$102 million, lower conversion costs of \$26 million and higher tire volume of \$20 million. These improvements were partially offset by higher selling, administrative and general ("SAG") expenses of \$27 million, driven by higher wages and benefits and increased advertising and marketing costs, and unfavorable foreign currency translation of \$13 million. See "Results of Operations — Segment Information" for additional information.

- 33-

Net sales were \$9,125 million in the first six months of 2014, compared to \$9,747 million in the first six months of 2013. Net sales decreased in the first six months of 2014 due to lower sales in other tire-related businesses, primarily third-party chemical sales in North America, a decline in price and product mix, primarily in EMEA and North America as a result of the impact of lower raw material costs on pricing, and unfavorable foreign currency translation, primarily in Latin America. Product mix was also negatively impacted by lower OTR tire sales. These decreases were partially offset by higher volume, primarily in EMEA.

In the first six months of 2014, Goodyear net income was \$162 million, compared to \$221 million in the first six months of 2013. In the first six months of 2014, Goodyear net income available to common shareholders was \$155 million, or \$0.58 per share, compared to \$206 million, or \$0.79 per share, in the first six months of 2013. The decrease in Goodyear net income in the first six months of 2014 compared to the first six months of 2013 was driven by an increased net remeasurement loss resulting from the devaluation of the Venezuelan bolivar fuerte; higher net rationalization charges, primarily related to the closure of one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France; pension curtailment and settlement charges in 2014 related to plans in North America and EMEA; and increased interest expense due to higher average debt balances and average interest rates, partially offset by improved segment operating income.

Our total segment operating income for the first six months of 2014 was \$833 million, compared to \$730 million in the first six months of 2013. The \$103 million increase in segment operating income was due primarily to a decline in raw material costs of \$275 million, primarily in North America and EMEA, which more than offset the effects of lower price and product mix of \$183 million, and lower conversion costs of \$80 million. These improvements were partially offset by higher SAG expenses of \$50 million, driven by higher wages and benefits, primarily in Latin America, higher advertising and marketing costs and increased incentive compensation costs. Segment operating income was also unfavorably impacted by foreign currency translation of \$29 million. See "Results of Operations — Segment Information" for additional information.

At June 30, 2014, we had \$1,637 million of Cash and cash equivalents as well as \$2,236 million of unused availability under our various credit agreements, compared to \$2,996 million and \$2,726 million, respectively, at December 31, 2013. Cash and cash equivalents decreased by \$1,359 million from December 31, 2013 due primarily to contributions of \$1,167 million, including discretionary contributions of \$907 million, to fully fund our hourly U.S. pension plans in the first quarter of 2014. See "Liquidity and Capital Resources" for additional information.

We continue to expect our full-year tire unit volume for 2014 will be up between 2% and 3% compared to 2013. We now expect cost savings to more than offset general inflation and additional expenditures for advertising, marketing and research and development, and continue to expect a favorable impact from changes in unabsorbed fixed costs of \$50 million to \$75 million in 2014, albeit towards the higher end of that range, with the remaining benefits of increased consumer and commercial tire production being largely offset by reduced OTR tire production for the remainder of 2014.

Based on current raw material spot prices, for the full year of 2014, we expect our raw material costs will be approximately 5% lower than 2013. We now expect net raw material costs and price and product mix to be slightly negative in 2014, primarily due to the negative mix impact of reduced OTR tire sales. Natural and synthetic rubber prices and other commodity prices have experienced significant volatility, and this estimate could change significantly based on fluctuations in the cost of these and other key raw materials. In order to mitigate some of the impact of raw material costs, we are continuing to focus on price and product mix, to substitute lower cost materials where possible and to work to identify additional substitution opportunities, to reduce the amount of material required in each tire, and to pursue alternative raw materials.

See "Forward-Looking Information — Safe Harbor Statement" for a discussion of our use of forward-looking statements in this Form 10-Q.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS CONSOLIDATED

Three Months Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

Net sales in the second quarter of 2014 were \$4,656 million, decreasing \$238 million, or 4.9%, from \$4,894 million in the second quarter of 2013. Goodyear net income was \$213 million in the second quarter of 2014, compared to \$188

million in the second quarter of 2013. Goodyear net income available to common shareholders was \$213 million, or \$0.76 per share, in the second quarter of 2014, compared to \$181 million, or \$0.67 per share, in the second quarter of 2013.

Net sales decreased in the second quarter of 2014, due primarily to lower sales in other tire-related businesses of \$148 million, primarily in North America due to a decrease in the volume of third-party chemical sales, a decline in price and product mix of \$146 million, primarily in EMEA, as a result of the impact of lower raw material costs on pricing, and unfavorable foreign currency of \$52 million, primarily in Latin America. Product mix was also negatively impacted by lower OTR tire sales. These declines were partially offset by higher tire volume of \$106 million, primarily in EMEA and North America.

Worldwide tire unit sales in the second quarter of 2014 were 40.6 million units, increasing 1.1 million units, or 2.7%, from 39.5 million units in the second quarter of 2013. The increase in units was driven primarily by EMEA and North America. Replacement

- 34-

tire volume increased 1.6 million units, or 5.9%, primarily in North America and EMEA. Original equipment ("OE") tire volume decreased 0.5 million units, or 3.9%, primarily in Latin America.

Cost of goods sold ("CGS") in the second quarter of 2014 was \$3,532 million, decreasing \$314 million, or 8.2%, from \$3,846 million in the second quarter of 2013. CGS decreased due to lower costs in other tire-related businesses of \$150 million, lower raw material costs of \$120 million, and decreases in product mix-related manufacturing costs of \$44 million. CGS also benefited from favorable foreign currency translation of \$37 million, primarily in Latin America, and lower conversion costs of \$26 million. Conversion costs were favorably impacted by lower under-absorbed fixed overhead costs of approximately \$20 million due to higher production volume in EMEA. These decreases were partially offset by higher volume of \$86 million, primarily in EMEA and North America. CGS in the second quarter of 2014 included pension expense of \$34 million, which decreased from \$56 million in the second quarter of 2013, due primarily to lower amortization resulting from 2013 actuarial gains related to our North American plans and the freeze of our hourly U.S. pension plans.

CGS in the second quarter of 2014 included accelerated depreciation of \$2 million (\$1 million after-tax and minority) primarily related to property and equipment in one of our manufacturing facilities in the United Kingdom ("U.K."), compared to \$5 million (\$4 million after-tax and minority) in the second quarter of 2013, primarily related to the plan to close one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France. CGS was 75.9% of sales in the second quarter of 2014 compared to 78.6% in the second quarter of 2013. CGS also included savings from rationalization plans of \$15 million related to the closure of one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France.

SAG in the second quarter of 2014 was \$698 million, increasing \$7 million, or 1.0%, from \$691 million in the second quarter of 2013. The increase in SAG was due to higher wages and benefits and increased advertising and marketing costs, partially offset by lower incentive compensation costs. SAG was 15.0% of sales in the second quarter of 2014, compared to 14.1% in the second quarter of 2013. SAG in the second quarter of 2014 included pension expense of \$13 million, compared to \$16 million in 2013, primarily related to North America. SAG also included savings from rationalization plans of \$2 million.

We recorded net rationalization charges of \$24 million (\$17 million after-tax and minority) in the second quarter of 2014. Net rationalization charges include charges of \$26 million for associate severance and idle plant costs, partially offset by a pension curtailment gain of \$2 million, primarily related to the closure of one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France. Rationalization actions initiated in the second quarter of 2014 primarily consisted of SAG headcount reductions in EMEA and Latin America. We recorded net rationalization charges of \$13 million (\$9 million after-tax and minority) in the second quarter of 2013. Rationalization actions initiated in the second quarter of 2013 primarily consisted of manufacturing reductions in EMEA and Latin America and SAG headcount reductions in Asia Pacific and EMEA.

Interest expense in both the second quarter of 2014 and 2013 was \$102 million. Interest expense in the second quarter of 2014 was favorably impacted by \$8 million related to interest recovered on the settlement of indirect tax claims in Latin America. Excluding this recovery, interest expense increased due to higher average debt balances of \$6,941 million in the second quarter of 2014 compared to \$6,555 million in the second quarter of 2013 and higher average interest rates of 6.34% in the second quarter of 2014 compared to 6.22% in the second quarter of 2013. Other (Income) Expense in the second quarter of 2014 was \$8 million of expense, a change of \$22 million, from \$14 million of income in the second quarter of 2013. Royalty income decreased to \$9 million in the second quarter of 2014 from \$19 million in the second quarter of 2013. Royalty income in the second quarter of 2013 included a one-time royalty of \$8 million related to chemical operations. Other (Income) Expense also included miscellaneous expenses of \$11 million in the second quarter of 2014 compared to \$3 million for the second quarter of 2013, which included charges of \$10 million (\$10 million after-tax and minority) and \$5 million (\$5 million after-tax and minority), respectively, relating to labor claims for a previously closed facility in EMEA. Other (Income) Expense also included charges of \$11 million in the second quarter of 2014 compared to \$5 million in the second quarter of 2013 related to general and product liability - discontinued products, which includes charges for claims against us related primarily to asbestos personal injury claims, net of probable insurance recoveries. These increases were partially offset by interest income in the second quarter of 2014 of \$13 million, compared to interest income of \$7 million in the second quarter of 2013. Interest income in the second quarter of 2014 included \$9 million earned on the settlement of indirect tax

claims in Latin America. Other (Income) Expense in the second quarter of 2014 and 2013 both included net gains on asset sales of \$5 million (\$4 million after-tax and minority).

Tax expense in the second quarter of 2014 was \$60 million on income before income taxes of \$292 million. In the second quarter of 2013, we recorded tax expense of \$63 million on income before income taxes of \$256 million. Income tax expense in the second quarter of 2013 was unfavorably impacted by \$8 million (\$7 million after minority interest) comprised of a \$5 million adjustment related to prior years and a \$3 million settlement of a foreign tax audit. In addition to the discrete items noted above, the differences between our effective tax rate and the U.S. statutory rate in both years were primarily attributable to continuing to maintain a full valuation allowance on our U.S. and certain foreign deferred tax assets.

Minority shareholders' net income in the second quarter of 2014 was \$19 million, compared to \$5 million in 2013. The increase was due primarily to increased earnings in our joint venture in Europe.

- 35-

#### Six Months Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

Net sales in the first six months of 2014 were \$9,125 million, decreasing \$622 million, or 6.4%, from \$9,747 million in the first six months of 2013. Goodyear net income was \$162 million in the first six months of 2014, compared to \$221 million in the first six months of 2013. Goodyear net income available to common shareholders was \$155 million, or \$0.58 per share, in the first six months of 2014, compared to \$206 million, or \$0.79 per share, in the first six months of 2013.

Net sales decreased in the first six months of 2014, due primarily to lower sales in other tire-related businesses of \$350 million, primarily in North America due to a decrease in the volume of third-party chemical sales, a decline in price and product mix of \$244 million, primarily in EMEA and North America, as a result of the impact of lower raw material costs on pricing, and unfavorable foreign currency of \$178 million, primarily in Latin America. Product mix was also negatively impacted by lower OTR tire sales. These declines were partially offset by higher tire volume of \$150 million, primarily in EMEA.

Worldwide tire unit sales in the first six months of 2014 were 80.6 million units, increasing 1.6 million units, or 1.9%, from 79.0 million units in the first six months of 2013. The increase in units was driven primarily by EMEA, partially offset by a decrease in Latin America, primarily in Venezuela. Replacement tire volume increased 2.3 million units, or 4.2%, primarily in EMEA and North America. OE tire volume decreased 0.7 million units, or 2.9%, primarily in Latin America and North America, partially offset by an increase in EMEA.

CGS in the first six months of 2014 was \$7,050 million, decreasing \$736 million, or 9.5%, from \$7,786 million in the first six months of 2013. CGS decreased due to lower costs in other tire-related businesses of \$352 million, lower raw material costs of \$275 million, primarily in North America and EMEA, favorable foreign currency translation of \$132 million, primarily in Latin America, and lower conversion costs of \$80 million. These decreases were partially offset by higher volume of \$128 million, primarily in EMEA. Conversion costs were favorably impacted by lower under-absorbed fixed overhead costs of approximately \$68 million due to higher production volume, primarily in EMEA. CGS in the first six months of 2014 included pension expense of \$78 million, excluding the pension curtailment and settlement charges described below, which decreased from \$119 million in the first six months of 2013, due primarily to lower amortization resulting from 2013 actuarial gains related to our North American plans and the freeze of our hourly U.S. pension plans.

CGS in the first six months of 2014 included a pension curtailment loss of \$33 million (\$32 million after-tax and minority) as a result of the accrual freeze to pension plans in North America and a pension settlement loss of \$5 million (\$4 million after-tax and minority) related to lump sum payments to settle certain liabilities for our U.K. pension plans. The first six months of 2014 also included accelerated depreciation of \$3 million (\$2 million after-tax and minority) primarily related to property and equipment in one of our manufacturing facilities in the U.K. compared to \$10 million (\$7 million after-tax and minority) in the first six months of 2013, primarily related to the plan to close one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France. CGS was 77.3% of sales in the first six months of 2014 compared to 79.9% in the first six months of 2013. CGS also included savings from rationalization plans of \$30 million, of which \$21 million related to the closure of one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France. SAG in the first six months of 2014 was \$1,365 million, increasing \$29 million, or 2.2%, from \$1,336 million in the first six months of 2013. The increase in SAG was due to higher wages and benefits, primarily in Latin America, higher advertising and marketing costs and increased incentive compensation costs, primarily driven by improved operating results in recent years and an increase in the Company's stock price. SAG was 15.0% of sales in the first six months of 2014, compared to 13.7% in the first six months of 2013. SAG in the first six months of 2014 included pension expense of \$27 million, compared to \$32 million in 2013, primarily related to North America. SAG also included savings from rationalization plans of \$9 million.

We recorded net rationalization charges of \$65 million (\$47 million after-tax and minority) in the first six months of 2014. Net rationalization charges include charges of \$87 million for associate severance and idle plant costs, partially offset by pension curtailment gains of \$22 million, primarily related to the closure of one of our manufacturing facilities in Amiens, France. Rationalization actions initiated in the first six months of 2014 primarily consisted of manufacturing headcount reductions related to EMEA's plans to improve operating efficiency. In addition, EMEA, Latin America and Asia Pacific also initiated plans to reduce SAG headcount. We recorded net rationalization charges

of \$20 million (\$15 million after-tax and minority) in the first six months of 2013. Rationalization actions initiated in 2013 primarily consisted of manufacturing reductions in EMEA and Latin America and SAG headcount reductions in EMEA and Asia Pacific.

Interest expense in the first six months of 2014 was \$207 million, increasing \$20 million, or 10.7%, from \$187 million in the second quarter of 2013. Interest expense in the first six months of 2014 was favorably impacted by \$8 million related to interest recovered on the settlement of indirect tax claims in Latin America. Excluding this recovery, interest expense increased due to higher average debt balances of \$6,813 million in the first six months of 2014 compared to \$6,194 million in the first six months of 2013 and higher average interest rates of 6.31% in the first six months of 2014 compared to \$2014 compared to 6.04% in the first six months of 2013.

Other (Income) Expense in the first six months of 2014 was \$176 million of expense, increasing \$64 million, or 57.1%, from \$112 million of expense in the first six months of 2013. The increase in Other (Income) Expense reflects higher net foreign currency

- 36-

exchange losses in the first six months of 2014 due to net remeasurement losses resulting from the devaluation of the Venezuelan bolivar fuerte against the U.S. dollar of \$157 million (\$132 million after-tax and minority) compared to \$115 million (\$92 million after-tax and minority) in the first six months of 2013. For further discussion on Venezuela, refer to "Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources."

Other (Income) Expense also increased due to miscellaneous expenses of \$19 million in the first six months of 2014 compared to \$3 million in the first six months of 2013, which included charges of \$17 million (\$17 million after-tax and minority) and \$5 million (\$5 million after-tax and minority), respectively, relating to labor claims for a previously closed facility in EMEA. Other (Income) Expense in the first six months of 2013, due primarily to a one-time royalty of \$8 million related to chemical operations included in the first six months of 2013. Other (Income) Expense also reflected charges of \$17 million in the first six months of 2014 compared to \$8 million in the first six months of 2013. Other (Income) Expense also reflected charges of \$17 million in the first six months of 2014 compared to \$8 million in the first six months of 2013 related to general and product liability — discontinued products, which includes charges for claims against us related primarily to asbestos personal injury claims, net of probable insurance recoveries. These increases were partially offset by interest income of \$19 million for the first six months of 2014, compared to interest income of \$12 million in the first six months of 2014, compared to interest income of \$12 million in the first six months of 2014, compared to interest income of \$12 million in the first six months of 2014, compared to interest income of \$12 million in the first six months of 2014, compared to interest income of \$12 million in the first six months of 2014 included \$9 million earned on the settlement of indirect tax claims in Latin America. Other (Income) Expense in the first six months of 2014 included net gains on asset sales of \$3 million (\$3 million after-tax and minority) compared to net gains of \$3 million (\$2 million after-tax and minority) in the first six months of 2013.

A substantial portion of royalty income results from the amortization of deferred revenue from prepaid trademark licensing royalties associated with the sale of our former Engineered Products business to The Carlyle Group in 2007. In the first quarter of 2014, The Carlyle Group announced that it has entered into an agreement to sell that business to Continental AG. If that transaction is consummated in 2014, we expect to terminate the licensing agreement and recognize the unamortized balance of the deferred revenue, which would result in a one-time gain totaling approximately \$170 million and reduce royalty income by approximately \$12 million per year in future periods. Tax expense in the first six months of 2014 was \$68 million on income before income taxes of \$262 million. In the first six months of 2013, we recorded tax expense of \$82 million on income before income taxes of \$306 million. Income tax expense in the first six months of 2013 was favorably impacted by \$4 million (\$5 million after minority interest) due primarily to the enactment of tax law changes. In addition to this discrete item, the differences between our effective tax rate and the U.S. statutory rate in both years were primarily attributable to charges that are not deductible for tax purposes related to the devaluation of the bolivar fuerte in Venezuela and continuing to maintain a full valuation allowance on our U.S.

At January 1, 2014, our valuation allowance on our U.S. deferred tax assets was approximately \$2,400 million. Since 2002, Goodyear has maintained a full valuation allowance on its U.S. net deferred tax asset position. Each reporting period we assess the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to utilize the existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence that we evaluate is the cumulative losses incurred in recent periods. Through 2012, our history of U.S. operating losses limited the weight we applied to other subjective evidence such as our projections for future profitability. Before we would change our judgment on the need for a full valuation allowance a sustained period of operating profitability is required. Considering the duration and magnitude of our U.S. operating losses it is our judgment that we have not yet achieved profitability of a duration and magnitude sufficient to release our valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets.

Our conclusion to maintain a full valuation allowance on our U.S. deferred tax assets considered the following recent positive evidence. Throughout 2013 and the first six months of 2014, we delivered U.S. earnings driven by North America's operating results. During the first quarter of 2014, we fully funded our hourly U.S. pension plans and, in accordance with our master collective bargaining agreement with the United Steelworkers, the hourly U.S. pension plans were frozen to future accruals effective April 30, 2014. Freezing these plans reduces future earnings volatility and enables us to more accurately forecast and deliver sustained profitable U.S. operating results. Profits in the six most recent quarters now provide us the opportunity to apply greater significance to our forecasts in our assessment of

the need to retain a valuation allowance. If we achieve another full year of significant U.S. earnings in 2014 and forecasts for 2015 and beyond show continued profitability, we may have sufficient evidence to release all or a significant portion of our valuation allowance on our U.S. deferred tax assets during 2014. We believe it is reasonably possible that this positive evidence will be available. We measure deferred tax assets and liabilities using the enacted tax laws that apply in the years that we anticipate our deferred tax assets and liabilities will be recovered or paid. New U.S. corporate income tax laws enacted prior to a release of our valuation allowance could materially impact the value of our deferred tax assets and would be considered in our assessment of the need for a valuation allowance. In the periods after which our U.S. valuation allowance is released, we would expect an increase in our effective tax rate as a result of recording tax expense on our U.S. earnings. Until such time that we exhaust our tax credits and tax loss carryforwards, the release of the valuation allowance would not affect our cash tax payments.

- 37-

Our losses in various foreign taxing jurisdictions in recent periods represented sufficient negative evidence to require us to maintain a full valuation allowance against certain of our net deferred tax assets. However, it is reasonably possible that sufficient positive evidence required to release all, or a portion, of certain valuation allowances will exist within the next 12 months. This may result in a reduction of the valuation allowance and a one-time tax benefit of up to \$105 million (\$80 million net of minority interest).

Minority shareholders' net income in the first six months of 2014 was \$32 million, compared to \$3 million in 2013. The increase was due primarily to increased earnings in our joint venture in Europe.

#### SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information reflects our strategic business units ("SBUs"), which are organized to meet customer requirements and global competition and are segmented on a regional basis.

Results of operations are measured based on net sales to unaffiliated customers and segment operating income. Each segment exports tires to other segments. The financial results of each segment exclude sales of tires exported to other segments, but include operating income derived from such transactions. Segment operating income is computed as follows: Net Sales less CGS (excluding asset write-off and accelerated depreciation charges) and SAG (including certain allocated corporate administrative expenses). Segment operating income also includes certain royalties and equity in earnings of most affiliates. Segment operating income does not include net rationalization charges (credits), asset sales and certain other items.

Total segment operating income in the second quarter of 2014 was \$460 million, increasing \$32 million, or 7.5%, from \$428 million in the second quarter of 2013. Total segment operating margin (segment operating income divided by segment sales) in the second quarter of 2014 was 9.9%, compared to 8.7% in the second quarter of 2013. Total segment operating income in the first six months of 2014 was \$833 million, increasing \$103 million, or 14.1%, from \$730 million in the first six months of 2013. Total segment operating margin in the first six months of 2013. Total segment operating margin in the first six months of 2013. Total segment operating margin in the first six months of 2014.

Management believes that total segment operating income is useful because it represents the aggregate value of income created by our SBUs and excludes items not directly related to the SBUs for performance evaluation purposes. Total segment operating income is the sum of the individual SBUs' segment operating income. Refer to the Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements No. 6, Business Segments, for further information and for a reconciliation of total segment operating income to Income before Income Taxes. North America

|                         | Three Mo    | nths Ended | June 30, |         | Six Months Ended June 30, |         |          |         |    |  |  |  |
|-------------------------|-------------|------------|----------|---------|---------------------------|---------|----------|---------|----|--|--|--|
|                         |             |            |          | Percent |                           |         |          | Percent | t  |  |  |  |
| (In millions)           | 2014        | 2013       | Change   | Change  | 2014                      | 2013    | Change   | Change  | e  |  |  |  |
| Tire Units              | 15.3        | 14.8       | 0.5      | 2.8 %   | 29.9                      | 29.6    | 0.3      | 0.7     | %  |  |  |  |
| Net Sales               | \$2,044     | \$2,201    | \$(157)  | (7.1)%  | \$3,923                   | \$4,367 | \$(444 ) | (10.2   | )% |  |  |  |
| Operating Income        | 208         | 204        | 4        | 2.0 %   | 364                       | 331     | 33       | 10.0    | %  |  |  |  |
| Operating Margin        | 10.2 %      | 9.3 %      | 0        |         | 9.3 %                     | 7.6 %   |          |         |    |  |  |  |
| Three Months Ended June | 20, 2014 or | 1 2012     |          |         |                           |         |          |         |    |  |  |  |

Three Months Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

North America unit sales in the second quarter of 2014 increased 0.5 million units, or 2.8%, to 15.3 million units. Replacement tire volume increased 0.6 million units, or 6.0%, primarily in our consumer business, with volume improvements exceeding industry volumes. OE tire volume decreased 0.1 million units, or 4.1%.

Net sales in the second quarter of 2014 were \$2,044 million, decreasing \$157 million, or 7.1%, from \$2,201 million in the second quarter of 2013. The decrease was due primarily to lower sales in our other tire-related businesses of \$141 million, driven by a decrease in volume of third-party chemical sales. In addition, net sales declined due to lower price and product mix of \$47 million, driven by the impact of lower raw material costs on pricing, and unfavorable foreign currency translation of \$13 million. These decreases were partially offset by higher tire volume of \$43 million. Operating income in the second quarter of 2014 was \$208 million, increasing \$4 million, or 2.0%, from \$204 million in the second quarter of 2013. The increase in operating income was due primarily to a decline in raw material costs of \$50 million, which more than offset the effect of lower price and product mix of \$41 million, lower conversion costs of \$9 million, and higher tire volume of \$8 million. These improvements were partially offset by higher transportation

costs of \$10 million, increased SAG expenses of \$4 million, due primarily to higher advertising costs, and decreased profits in other tire-related businesses driven by lower royalty income from our chemical operations of \$8 million. The decrease in conversion costs included favorable pension costs of \$17 million and lower under-absorbed overhead of \$5 million resulting from higher production volumes, partially offset by increased profit sharing costs of \$9 million.

- 38-

Operating income in the second quarter of 2014 excluded net gains on asset sales of \$1 million. Operating income in the second quarter of 2013 excluded net rationalization charges of \$5 million and net gains on asset sales of \$3 million.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

North America unit sales in the first six months of 2014 increased 0.3 million units, or 0.7%, to 29.9 million units. Replacement tire volume increased 0.6 million units, or 3.2%, primarily in our consumer business, reflecting higher industry demand. OE tire volume decreased 0.3 million units, or 4.6%, primarily in consumer OE, due to our OE selectivity strategy.

Net sales in the first six months of 2014 were \$3,923 million, decreasing \$444 million, or 10.2%, from \$4,367 million in the first six months of 2013. The decrease was due primarily to lower sales in our other tire-related businesses of \$342 million, driven by a decrease in volume of third-party chemical sales. In addition, net sales declined due to lower price and product mix of \$99 million, driven by the impact of lower raw material costs on pricing, and unfavorable foreign currency translation of \$25 million. These decreases were partially offset by higher tire volume of \$21 million. Operating income in the first six months of 2014 was \$364 million, increasing \$33 million, or 10.0%, from \$331 million in the first six months of 2013. The increase in operating income was due primarily to lower conversion costs of \$56 million and higher tire volume of \$4 million. The decrease in conversion costs included lower pension costs of \$32 million and lower under-absorbed overhead of \$22 million resulting from higher production volumes. Operating income also benefited from a decline in raw material costs of \$111 million, which more than offset the effect of lower price and product mix of \$99 million. These improvements were partially offset by higher transportation costs of \$19 million, increased SAG expenses of \$9 million, due to higher allocated corporate costs and higher incentive compensation costs, and decreased profits in other tire-related businesses driven by lower royalty income from our chemical operations of \$8 million. Conversion costs and SAG expenses included net savings from rationalization plans of \$6 million and \$1 million, respectively.

Operating income in the first six months of 2014 excluded net pension curtailment charges of \$33 million, a net reversal of rationalization charges of \$1 million and a net gain on asset sales of \$1 million. Operating income in the first six months of 2013 excluded net rationalization charges of \$7 million and net gains on asset sales of \$2 million. Europe, Middle East and Africa

| _                         | Three Mor   | nths Ended . |        |         | Six Mon |         |   |         |   |        |        |    |
|---------------------------|-------------|--------------|--------|---------|---------|---------|---|---------|---|--------|--------|----|
|                           |             |              |        | Percent |         |         |   |         |   |        | Percen | ıt |
| (In millions)             | 2014        | 2013         | Change | Change  |         | 2014    |   | 2013    |   | Change | Chang  | e  |
| Tire Units                | 15.1        | 14.6         | 0.5    | 3.3     | %       | 31.3    |   | 29.7    |   | 1.6    | 5.3    | %  |
| Net Sales                 | \$1,580     | \$1,577      | \$3    | 0.2     | %       | \$3,256 |   | \$3,184 |   | \$72   | 2.3    | %  |
| Operating Income          | 117         | 51           | 66     | 129.4   | %       | 227     |   | 82      |   | 145    | 176.8  | %  |
| Operating Margin          | 7.4 %       | 3.2 %        |        |         |         | 7.0     | % | 2.6     | % |        |        |    |
| Three Months Ended June 3 | 0. 2014 and |              |        |         |         |         |   |         |   |        |        |    |